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Commander Bellaths: 16 that ' accoptéd by the India Officd as
a fair teial for this distingoished General }

Mr. Montagu ::‘The hon; and galant Gentlsman must know if
is not ‘'a question of a trial. The ¥Commander-in Chief in India has
a perfect right to dispense with the services of any officér.

Cammmdef Bsilairs : 1s” the right hon., Gentleman aware that
it is not in sapordance with the rules of any military coutt that
General Dyer should have no legal aspistanes and that be should
not be able to oross-examine witn !

o Mr. Montagu : } quite agrep.wath the hon, a.nd gallant Gentle-.
ma.n, but the Hunter Commission was not a military court aud
cannot be regarded as a substitute for a military ¢ourt.

Sir H. Craik : Is it not the case, as was stated yesterday, that
the Army Council has bad the case of General Dyer before it, and
has given time to General Dyer to give a further statement of his
case before they come to judgment ?

My. Montagu : Yes, that was the policy announced yestorday
by the Seoretary of State for War,

Sir H, CUraik : It is not proper—

Mr. Speaker : We are going to discuss the matter to-morrow,

Acting Deputy Commussioner, Gujranwalla.

Colonel Yale asked the Sceretavy of State for India what action
has been taken by the Government ot ludia in the case of the Acting
Deputy Commissioner of Gujrauwalla, who is reported in the Majori-
ty Report of the Hunter Commission to have committed an error of
judgment in refusing to give the police liberty to fire upon and
disperse the mob engaged in burning the post office there ?

Mr, Montagu : The Government of India, in parugraph 25 of
their despateh, accept tho opinion of the majority of the Committea,
As stated in paragraph 41 of the despateh, they are asking the Local
GoVYernment to take such action as may be necessary to mark their
disapprobation.

Hon. Pandit Jagat Narayan— {0th June

Lieut. Colonel Nir F. Hall asked the Prime Minister if.
Pandit Jagat Narayan, who in 1917 accused Sir Michael O’'Dwyor
of having imprisoned thousands of poople without trial, and who -
subsequently undertook to make a public withdrawal of this falso
charge, bas yet done so: if this person is identical with the Mr,
Narayan who hag signed the Minority Report of Lord Hunter's Com-
mission on the Punjab disturbances ; aud, if so, will he state who was
reaponsible for placing on the Commission, a person who had already,
by his own confession, heen guilty of false and seditious statemonts
of a glaring character !
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The Prime Minister : I should be much obliged if my hon. and
gallant Friend would address thig question to the Secretary of State
for India.

Sir F. Hall : Perhaps the Secretary for Indiu could answer the
quostion now !

The Secretary of State for Indin (Mr. Montagu) : I do not like
to do so without preparing a carefully written avswer, and if tho hon.
Gentloman will be good enough to put it down for Monday I will
answor him.

Hunter Commission—14th June

Sir W, Joynsou-Hicks asked the Secretary of State for lIndia
whether one of the Indian mombers of the Hunter Commission had
been, shortly befors his appointment, to iuvestigate the actions of
the Punjub Governmount, forbidden by that Government to enter
the Punjub? ,

Mr. Montagu : Oue of the Indian members applied in May,
1919, for pormission to enfer the Martial Law area to defend one
of the accused before the Martial Law Commission. His application
was refused by the Administrator of Martial Law.

On 16th June Sir F. Hall repoated the same question and
Mr. Mountagu replied :-—

Y Paudit Jagat Narayan Singh, who signed the Minority
Roport. of Lord Huuter’s Comnittee, made a speeeh in which he
brought this charge in 1917. On being informed of its iw-
accuracy in 1918 he offered to withdraw it  publicly, but in
view of the lapsc of time the Provincial Governments concerned
thought it unnecassary to ask him to do so. He was appointed
to the Committee in 1919 by the Government of India, actiyg in
close consultation with myself and with the Lieutenant-Governor
of the United Provinces. Tho habit of bringing unfounded charges
against the Government is not confined to India, although we
could all wish that the willingness to withdraw them when dis-
proved wore less oxceptional. If the hou. and gsllant Member
really takes the view that he appears to take of the matter, he
will, of course, discount the Pandit’s recorded opinion accordingly.
If ho wishes to know my views on that opinion, he will gather
them from the Papers which havo beon presented.”

Sir F. Hull : May I ask my right hon. Friend whether he
does not think it would have been more advisable to put somebody
on this Commission who had not got a debit balauce standing
against his name; and is he aware that perhaps not everybody
right through the country has the same opinion with regard to
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whether or not it is right for the right hon. Geuntleman to put such
people on the Commission.

Mr. Montagu : I can assuro Iy hon, and gillant friond that
every efforl was made to get Indian reprosentatives put on this
Commission who were impaitial. The fact that a very bighly
distinguished and esteemed member of the United Provinces
Logislative Counecil made a mistake once, which he offered to with-
draw, does not, in my opinion, show he was a partial inquirer.

. Sir F. Hall : As that offur of withdrawal had been suggested,
does ot my right hon, Friend think it would have been advisable
that the Government should have accepted it and not bave put
this gentleman on the Commission !

Mr. Montagu : As a matter of fact, although it would not
have affected my judgmeont on the subject, neither the Govern-
mout of India nor I knew of this case when he was appointed, but
I am not going to censure the Local Governments concerned when
they advised this gentleman a year alterwards that it was not
necessary to make a public withdrawal and that 1t was sufficient
that he had offered to do so.

Commander Bellairs : Were the Goverument of the Punjab
askod their opinion as to the qnalifirations of this gentloman to
serve on the Commission ?

Mr. Moutagu : That I do not kuwow. 1 o know that this
nuestion of the unfortunate speech of this distinguished Gentleman was
brought to the notice of the Goverumoent of India, wfter his appoint-
ment, by the Government of the Punjab, who at the time stated
that they did not wish on that ground to object to his appointment.

Brigadier-General Dyer__21st June

Colonel Ashley (by Private Notice) asked the Secretary of State
for War whother the Army Council have decided to restore Brigadier
Geueral Dyer to the Army !

The Secrotary of State for War (Mr. Churchill) : No, there is
no truth in that statement, which has heen published in a groat
number of wvewspapers. The Army Council arc still awaiting s
statemeut which Brigadicr-General Dyor is being allowed to submit.
Ho expressed an opinion the he would be able to make his statement
by Weduesday last, the 16th, but he asked for a few more days’
delay to spable him to complete his statemont. That is how the
matter stands. All statements to the contrary are without any kind
of foundation.

Colonel Ashley : When the statement is investigated, will the
Army Couucil be able towome toa docision on that statoment, or
will there huve to be a further Court of Iuvestigation !
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Mr Churehill : That wmﬂd be prejudging the discussion whxch
is going to take place.

Sir D. Maclean ; In view of what the right hon. Gentleman
knows of the. progreaa of the p dings before the Army Council,
is there any likelihood that the debate on this subject will not take
take place next Monday {

- Mr. Churchill : Yes, 1 think that there i a considerable echance
that we should mot be able to have the debate next Monday. We
certainly ought not to take any course which appears to deny rea-
sonable facilities for the preparation of the statement, nor.do I
‘suppose for one moment that there would be any intentional delay
in making the statement ; and after that there should be a certain
period for consideration and discussion by the Army Council. I
think it quite possible that I shall have to nsk my right hon. Friend
‘the Leader of the House to maks representations to those concerned
to poatpone the discussion for s little longer in both Houses of
Parliament.

HOUSE OF COMMONS—23rd June 1920

Punjab Disturbances

Brigadier-General Surtees asked the Secretary for India whe-
ther the Government of India propose to recognise the services
of those officers, both ecivil and military, who in its opinion, contri-
buted to the yuelling of the disturbauces in the Punjab and else-
where in India, by any other method than the general expression
of satisfaction mentioned in paragraph 43 of the Government of
India’s letter on the Hunter Committee’s Report !

Mr. Montagu : I have not recsived from the Government
of India any proposal for further recognition, I will draw the
attention of the Government of India to the hon.” and gallant
Member’s suggestion.

Mr. Gwynne asked the Secretary of State for India whether
Sir Michael O’Dwyer communicated day by day with the Govern-
ment of India coucerning the various outhreaks in the Punjab and
the measures taken hy General Dyer to deal with them : whether
this information was submitted forthwith to the India Office ; and
if not, for what reason ?

Mr, Montagu : I received daily telegrams from the Govemment
of India from the beginuing of the disturbances up to the middle of
May. These telegrams embodied the reports of the Punjab Govarn-
ment and, as I have already stated, were all, except two important
messages, communicated to the Press here, (eneral Dyer was in
charge in only one area, and there was no mentinn of _him by nite.
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in thoss telegrams, and only one mention 6f him.as General Officar
Commanding, ~Amritsar. Some movements of troops that were
under his command are also reporteﬁin those telegrams,

Mr. Gwynne : {f the right hon Gentleman wae reveiving the
communications daily ' from the Government of Indis, will he eay
why he stated in December that he knew no details except what be
read in the newspapers |

Mr. Mountagu: Thure bas boen a great deal of misunderstand-
ing on the point. 1 can assure my hon. Friend that what I said
then “was true. 1 was'réierring to & question put by my right hon.
Frieud the Member for Peebles (Sir D). Maclean) on the publication
of General Dyer’s evidence in the newspapers, I then stated that
[ harl published veports on the occurrences as I received them. If
my hon. Friend will-look at it, ho will sée that the matters dealt
with in the published newspaper evidence of General Dyer were
not covered in this report,

Lieut. Colonel Nir F. Hall : Does the right hon, Gentleman
thirk that the manner by which this gallaut officer hus been treated
i likely to assist officers in gencral in dealing with outbreaks ?

Mr. Speaker : That docs not arise out of the question.

Mr. Palmer : Is it not a fact that the right hon. Gentleman
actually told the House that he kuew nothing of these oconrrences,
aud that he would wire for intormation with regard to them, and left
the impression on us that he wuas cutirely iguorant of the whole
business 7 -

Mr. Montagu : Perhaps the hon. Member will be good enough
to look at the ofiicial Report ou tho question and supplementary
ruestion T answerorl, Perhaps he will look also at the speech I made
immedintely after the oceurrence, and the telegrams which resulted.
I think then he will be in a position to take part in tha Debate.

Mr. Gwynne : 18 tha right hon. Gentleman aware that he stated
on 16th Docember: I thonght 1 said I knew no details until I saw
the necount in the newspapers.’

Mr. Montagu : Every raport I had received from the Govern-
ment of Indin, with the exception of these two telograms, was
published. Thatis trua. Tho ‘occurrence to which my right hon.
Friend drew attention was the details of the shooting by Geqeml
Dyer at Amritsar. I bad no information on that subject,

Lieut. Commander Kenworthy : Did the Government of Indm
keep the right hon. Gentleman fully informed of events or did l'.he
talngrm tush up the most important part of the account 3

" Mr. Montagu: A great deal of this unfortunste controversy
has ‘arisen beeause there is an impression that | was spousing the
‘Governmient of the Punjab or the (Government of India of concealing
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facts. 1 never made such an accusation, aud I am prepared to
defend their conduct in awaiting the Committee’s report.

Mr. Gwynne asked the Se#ta.ry of State for India on what
date he first iuterviewed Sir Michael O’Dwyer in regard to the
outbreaks at Amritsar apd discussed General Dyer’s action ; and
whether at any time he interviewed Miss Sherwood, who was
assaulted during the riots, and, if so, when ?

Mr, Montagu : The answer to the first part is, [ thiuk, on the
30th June, 1916 ; to the second, yes, on the Tth October, 1919,

Mr. Gwynue : Will the right hon. Gentleman explain hbw it
was that he was able positively to stale in December, if he knew
frum detailed information, both from Sir Michael O’Dwyer anil Miss
Sherwood in June, “‘I said I knew no details until I saw the r port
in the papers.,” 1f he sent the report to the papers he must have
known it Lufore he saw it in the papers. Is that a correct way of
giving information to the Housc ?

Mr. Montagn: 1 suggest that the hon. Member’s guestion
shows the wroug headedness of the whols thing., Miss Sherwood could
not possibly bave given me any information of what General Ddyer
did bocsuse this gallaut [ady had been attacked long before all these
incidents occurred. 1f the hon. Member wishos to accuse me of
giving false information or making a statement which 18 not true
perhaps he will raise the point in Debate, when I shall have an
opportunity of answering him.

Mr. Gwynne : [ shall have great pleasure in asking the right
hon. Gentleman to ¢xplauin how it is he is able to say ho knew
nothirg at all of any details when he had seen Sir Michael O'Dwyer
and had all the details from b six mounths before.

Mr. Paliner : Does the right hon. Gentleman suggest that he
knew nothing of the Amritsar shooting until he read it in the
Dily Express !

Mr. Montagu : No, I vever said so. The fact that there had
been shooting at Amritsar was known to me and was published
to the world when it occurred in the telegrams I received from the Go-
verument of India.  What I said in December and what I say now,
is that | had no imformation as to tho details, shooting without
warning, and shooting to the exbaustion of ammunition, and the
priveiples upon which General Dyer acted, and so forth. Those
things came to me as a shock when [ read them in the newspaper.

Sir W, Joynson Hicks : When the right hon. Gentleman saw the
Lisutenant Goveruor of the Punjab, why did be not, in June
and at that interview and other interviews, ask him for full details 1

Mr. Moutugu : I can answer that much better in Debate, and:
[ should prefer to do so. [ have many most important private
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interviews at the India Office, and it is very diffionlt to keep in one’s
head a year after exaotly what oooured, but { think I can satisfy
the House, if not the hon, Mem‘er, that everything I have said
is absolutely true.

Mr. Remer: Will the right hon. Gentleman publish the
scoonnt which Miss Sherwood gave him basfore the debate
takes place ! '

Mr. Montagu: How ean 1 do that six months after I had tho
private interview with Miss Sherwood of which no record was kept ?
The step I took about: Miss Sherwood, if the hon. Member wishes
to know, was to tell, I think, two important London newspapers
that Mise Sherwood was in London, and that it would be u good
thing in the public intercst if she were interviewed. 1 do not know
what other steps I could have taken.

On June 25, 1920 Brig-General Surtees asked Mr. Montagu
if, before the IHouse disoussed the affairs of the Punjab, he would lay
upon the table copies of all maemorials, and declarations sent
by Anglo-Indians to the Viceroy and himself regarding General Dyer.

Mr. Montagu replied that the only message of the kind he could
trace was as follows :—

Uablegram from the Euwsopean Asociation of India, recesved in
London, 9th June 1920—

“The Council of the European Association expresses indignation
at the despatehes of the Secretary of State and the Goverument of
India oo the Hunter Committee’s Report, The Council considers
the situation in India from 1918 onwards to be much more dangerous
than is indicated by that Report, and consider that the Government
of India and the Secretary of State have subordinated justice to
political expediency. They. consider that General Dyer was absolutely
Jjustified at Amritear in considering the whole situation in India, and
that, therefore, the dootrine of minimum force does not apply ; that
General Dyer’s action stopped a revolution ; that the refusal of
Government to support its officers is destructive of sound government
and will place all officers in an impossible position in any emergency
in which responsibility has to ‘be undertaken. The Council asks,
therefore, that General Dyer should be exonerated from all blame,
and should suffer no less of rank or emoluments, and that Govern-
ment’s proppasl to punish the officers who suppressed the rebellion
shall be sbandoned.” .

On June 28th Sir Frederick Hall asked the Prime Minister
if, in view of the conflicting statements that had been made
as to the extent™and pature of the information furnished to the
Seoretary of State for India by Sir Michael O'Dwyer and others with
regard to tha ocourrepce at Amritsar jp the spring of 1919 and

69
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‘the dates at which such information was given, the Government
would appoint a Seleet Committee of the House to inquire into the
matter and to report after takingfall available evidence.

Mr, Lloyd George replied that be saw no reason for the appoint-
ment of such s Committee. The matter could be brought up in debate.

On June’ 30th Mr. Rupert Gwynne renewed the attack on
Mr. Montagu by asking him whether the Punjaub disturbances in
general, and General Dyer's action at Amritsar in particular, were
debated at length in the Legislative Council at Simla during September
1919 ; whether reports of these debates were received hy him, and
if 80, on what dates.

Mr. Montagu : The answer to the first part of the question is in
the afirmative. Many allegations were made by non-official members
to which the reply of Government representatives was gencrally that
theen wero matters on which judgment should ha suspended till the
Committes had reported. The debates were received in two parts
on the bth and 12th November.

Mr. Gwynne : Will the right hon. member say how, if that is
tho case, he conld still state in Decemhber that he had no information
on the suhjoct of Amritsar except what he read in the papers.

Mr. Montagu: The hon. membher still persists in misquoting.
What [ said on the 15th December was that T had no details of these
occurrences, not that 1 had no knowledge whatever. I have given
accounts to the Honse. T1f the hon. member suggests that on reading
the allegations of hon. members of the Legislative Council of India, 1
should have communicated those as authentic to the House whilst
thore was at that moment a Committee of Inquiry sitting, I venture
to differ from him,

Sir Richard Cooper : Will the right hon, Geutleman say how
he was able to state positively that he had no information of the
dotails when he had read the full aceount and that the discussion in
the Logislative Council was a talse discussion, ?

Mr. Montagu : I cannot carry on a debate at Question Time
but what I said was that 1 had no knowledge of the details of the
oceurrances.

Lient.-Colonel Croft : Was not the right hon. Gentleman
shocked !

Mr. Montagu : Certainly; [ think the words I used were that
the evidence as reported in the newsvapers was profoundly disturbing.
I think those were the words.

Mr. Plamer : You said “’shocking”.

Mr. Montagu : Well, [ acoept '‘shocking.”/1 had no knowledge
whatever that General Dyer had made those statements that he was
reported to have made until I saw the account in the papers.
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Mr, Gwynne asked the Secrstary of State for India whether
Sir Michael O'Dwyer informed him at his interview on 30th June
1919, that General Dyer had ontl;red his troops to shoot on the
prohibited meeting at Jalisnwala "Bagh without further warning
than that already given by him by Proclamation causing death
easualties to the then estimated extent of 200 persons |

Mr. Montagu : So far as I can state with certainty the details of
a conversation which took place s year ago, 1am confident that
pothing was said about warning. The casualties as ascertained at
the time had already been published.

Mr. Gwyone : Is the right kon, Gentleman aware that Sir
Michael O'Dwyer stated positively that he told the right hon.
gentleman all the details, aud he found he was then so well
informed, and knew them as well as he did, of the shooting, and the
casualties and the firing, and .the crawling order ; and is he also
aware that Sir Michael O'Dwyer wrote to him on 13th December of
last year directly ho saw the accounts in the papers that the right
hon. Gentleman said he knew nothing about it and of the dotails ¥

Mr, Speaker : The hon. Member has put a fresh series of state-
ments and 1 think he ought to give nolico of them.

Dr. Murray asked Mr. Montagu : Do all these questious not
show that the time has come when the Debate on Amritsar should
take place to settlo all these things, aud can he not say when it will
take place

Mr. Montagu : The sooner it comes on the better I shall Le
pleased. [ understand that General Dyer’s statement (o the Arwmy
Council is expected in the War Offico to-day, and therefors | %onfi-
dently hope it will be possible to hold the Debate next weck,

On July 1Ist, 1920 Mr. Bonar Law announced that
Thursday week, i. e., July 8th had been set apart for the
Debate on the Vote for the Secretary of State for India,
Members wanted two days, one, a Supply Day to discuss the -
Administration of India on the Vote for the Sec. of State for
India, and ancther specially for the Amritsar Debate. This the
Leader of the House could not promise.

On July 5th Mr. Palmer (by Private Notice) asked the Scerotary
of State for lndia whether, in view of the forthcoming debate on
the shooting at Amritsar, he would be willing to inolude in a White
Paper the letter of Sir Michael O'Dwyer dated Delhi, December
30th, 1919, and his letter marked “private and confidential,” wkich
was sent in reply.

The Secretary of State for India replied : 1 do not think it is
necessary to issue a White Paper. 1 propose, however, to ciroulate
with the letter of the 30th December, 1919, and the reply which
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1 caused to he sent by telegram through the Viceroy on the "2nd
Fobruary, 1920. As the na of S8ir T. Holderness has nlko
been mentioned in this controvergy, I propose to add with his ‘pér-
mission a lotter which he addressed to me on the 30th June last,

Mr. Palmer : Will the - document indlude the lstter marked
“private and confidential”!

Mr. Montagu : I think that the Hon. Member is undér a mis-
apprehension. There was no letter. It was a telegtam addressed to
the Viceroy marked “‘private and personal.”

Sir W. Joynson Hicks : Will the right hon. Gentleman sdd to
these papers the report of the Brigade-Major which has been referred
to all through the Hunter Commission, but has not been published in
the papers so far as I can gather ?

Mr. Montagu : I do not think that I can promise to publish any
spocial papers in answer to a question asked without notice, but if
a guestion is put down to-morrow I will answer it.

The following are the documents referred to :

Sir M. O,Dwyer's Letter to Mr. Montagu
Army in India Committee,
Delhi, 30-31 December, 1919,
Dranw Mr. MonNTaGu,

Singe | wrote last week Reuter has been cabling summaries of
tho discussions in Parliament of the Punjab disturbances, 1 enclose
onn of these dated London, 16th December, which report the Seors-
tary 6f Stato as saying énfer alia, “he did not know the details (of
the Awmritsar occurronces) until he saw (the) reports in the news-
papers.” That telegram has led many people here to ask me if, when
[ reached England at the end of June, I took any action to inform
thé Indis Office of the position at Amritsar and elsewhere. 'The
Press lidre, too, has been asking whether Meaton and I, when we
got homo, did anything to explain the situation in India.

At the time 1 got home 1 probably knew as much sbout the
Punjab situation as any one in India or England, and I would not
like you or any one else to think that I kept anything back. You
will remember that you were good enough to give me two long inter-
views on 30th June (two days after I arrived), and on 24th Jidly
(those dates I get from my diary), a few days befors I left town,
On one or both of those occasions we went over all the main facts of
Dyer’s aotion at Amritaar, and the impression I then formed was
that the India Office knew as much about all the material fasts as
I did.

1 have a distinct recollection (though my diary is silent on this -
point) that at our conversation of 30th June 1 brought out the faot -
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that Dyer, on 13th April, having alresdy formally warned people
that he would disperse any gathering by foros, did not think it
necessary to give any further warnigg to the gatherings which assem-
bled an hour or two later in defiance of his proclamation. | certsin-
ly explained then that two British police officers were with him
when he fired and that the District Magistrate thinking a gathering
in defiance of the proclamation impossible, had gone off to look
after the 80 panic-stricken women and children who had besu col-
lected in the Fort for safety after the murder of Europeans on the
10th. I also said that Dyer's rough estimate of the death casualties
was 200 ; but my memory was not clear as to whether he had
fired 1400 or 1600 rounds.

The question of Dyer’s so-called ‘crawling’ order was not dis-
cussed. 1 eaid it was quite indefensible, that I had asked for its
cancellation du-ectly I saw it; and so had the Commander-in-Chief,
and my recollection is that you told me you had gathered this from
copies of my letters to the Viceroy which bhe had sent on to you,
After leaving you on the 30th June I went on to see Sir T. Holder-
ness, and a few days later I saw Lord Sinha. I endeavoured to
explain to them, as olearly as I could, the whole situation in the
Punjab, and especially in Amritsar. I gathered from them also that
India Office was already in possession of all the main facts though in
some respects I was able to offer further expianation, e. g., as to the
necessity of sending aeroplanes to Gujranwala, the exclusion of legal
practitioners, and the treatment in gaol of the Editor of the Tribune
regardjng which Lord Sinha had received many letters and tele-
grams. Possibly Rsuter’s summary, as quot,ed above, may be giving
to us here an incorrect impression. But, in any case, you will, I am
sure, forgive me for trying~—perhaps needlessly—to make it clasr that
I endeavoured to put the Secrctary of State of tbe Iudia Office in
poasession of such knowledge as 1 had. You may remember too, that
1 stated to you on the 30th June, a fact whick was not perhaps
mentioned in the telegramis from India and may not have been
reported at the time, th&t the aviator at Gujranwala, on the 14th
April, seeing the English Church in flames, bhad, very wrougly, drop-
ped & bomb close to a mosque in the town, but fortunately, it did
not explode. In writing all this I am less concerned with my own
responsibility in the matter thau with how others may be affected by
any misunderstanding or obscurity.

Dysr, st the first interview | bad with him (on the 16th April),
told me everything about the Amritsar events on 13th April ss
frankly and as fully ae the limited time I could spare him-—when
there was rebellion(!!) all.round—allowed. I did my best to report
his version with my own comments to you and others of the India
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Office on the very first opportunity. If I did not do so fully or clearly
enough then the faclt is certainly pot his, but rests either with me or
with those who were questioning E;e. But, as I have said above,
there was even as far back as 30th June, little room for doubt as to
the substantial facts, namely, the circumstances in which he opened
and maintained fire on the prohibited assembly on the 13th April,
covering death casualties which, at the time, he estimated roughly at
200 but which up to date inquiries put at 379.

Yours sincerely,

(Sd.) M. F. O'DWYER.

Telegram from the Secretary of State for India to the
Viceroy, dated 2nd February, 1920,

Private and personal,—Following for O'Dwyer. 1 have received
youi letter of the 31st. December. Of course, I need bardly say that
in the House of Commons I was not referring to conversations of
which no record is kept and which cannot be a substitute for official
information, nor did I make any complaint; indeed, 1 explained,
and have explained frequently sinece, that I thought it was quite
natural tbat I should have received no dotailed information. Let me
say that 1 certainly do not hold you in any way responsible. I have
no recollection of, and such notoes as [ took do not contain, any state-
ment about the two British police officors. DBut in any case the
details I was referring to were these: That Dyer is reported to have
stated in his evidence that the crowd might have dispersed without
his firing on them, that he fired without warning, and that he stop-
ped firing because his ammuuition was oxhausted. I do not fdmem-
ber that you ever dealt with these things.

Letter of Sir W. T. Holderness

30th June, 1920,
“Dear Mr. Moutagu,

As 1 am mentioned in Sir M. Q’'Dwyer’s lotter of 8th June,
which appeared in the “Morning Post” of®th June, (for this lelter sce
“Punjal Unrest—Before & After,” App. . 2i1) as one of tha officials
of the India Office who were fully informed by him during the
summer of 1919 of the disorders which had occurred in the Punjab
in April of that ycar, and in particular of the circumstances of the
action tsken by Geuneral Dyer to disperse the crowd assembled in the
Jalliauwalla Bagh, I think it right, in justice o myself, to submit to
you a few remarks on s0 much of his letter as concerns myself,

“Sir M. O'Dwyer writes, ‘I put all my information at the
disposal of the Secretary of State, and also of Lord Sinha, Sir T.
Holderness and others at the India Office. The impression I then
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formed (in June and July last) was that as regards all the main
facts the India Office was quite as {ully informed as I wae ; though I
was naturally able to explain certrsn points, e, g., the .easons for
using aeroplanes at Gujranwaia, for the exclusion of legal praoti-
tioners from other provmca by the Martial [.aw authorities, ete.”

; ; “Indeed, all that time, my endeavour was to
1mpress upon the authorities at the India Office the gravity of the
situation in the Punjab, which to my mind they had not sufficiently
res.hsed 4

“‘Lower down he guotes from a letter dated 30th December 1919
which he wrote from India to the Secretary of State, in which the
following passage oceurs : ‘Dyer, at the first interview 1 had with
him on the 16th April, told me everything as frankly and fully as
the limited time 1 could spare him (when there was a rebellion all
around, would allow. 1 did my best to repeat his version, with my
own views and comments, to you and to others at the India Office
on the very first opportunity. If I did not do so fully cunough,
then the fanlt is certainly not his, but rests either with me or with
those who were questioning ma. Bat, as | have already said, there
was even as far back as 13th June, little room for doubt as to the
substantial facts, viz., the circumstances in which he opened and
maintained fire on the prohibited assembly on 13th April, causing
death casualties which at the time he roughly put at about 200, but
which the complete up to date enquiries put at 379,

I gather that the interview which Sir M. (’Dwyer had
with Geuneral Dyer was limited toa quarter of an hour, and that
when Sir M, O’Dwyer left India in May the Punjab Government
was still awaiting General Dyer's Report. (See Hunter Committee
Report). General Dyer’s Report was not made till August, 1919,
Tt 8 this Report that contains the passage which gives the
key to General Dyer’s action and which is the centre of the contro-
versy to which his action has given rise. "It was no louger a
yuestion of merely dispersing the crowd, but one of producing a
sufficient moral effect, from u military point of view, not only on
those who were present, but more especinlly throughout the Punjab.
There could be no question of undue severity,” (Hunter Com-
mittee’s Report, page 30). Up to the fime | remaiued in the
India Office, General Dyer’s Report had not reached it.

“I had the privilege of irequent conversations with Sir M.
O'Dywer during the summer of 1919, and learnt from him many
particulars regarding the disorders in the Punjab that bore out his
view that the situation had been one of extrome gravity. As regards
General Dyer's handling of the Amritsar riots, I have a clear re-
oollection that Sir M. O’'Dwyer justified the casualties (then thought
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to be about 200 killed) by the necessity for dispersing a hastile.aud
dangerous mob, inflamed by the license and savagery which for
several days had prevailed in tEe city and for regaining coutrol
over the populace. But I have ho recolleotion that he considered
the force empluyed to have been in exoess of the immediate neces-
sities of the case, and deliberately exercised in excess with the
distinet object of producing a moral effect throughout the province,
My recollection is fortified by the astonishment which I felt on
reading the report of General Dyer’s evidence which appeared in
the Times of 1Bth December. I was by that time aware that a
bitter controversy had arisen in India over circumstances of the
Jallianwalla Bagh affair, and that the exact incidents were in dispute
between the National Congress party and the Government. But
the details given by General Dyer to the Commission came to me
as a great surprise and were entirely enoxpected.

“In coneclusion, I would like to say, that if I had been called
upon during the summer or autumn of 1919 to prepare a statement
for publication regarding the Jallianwalla Bagh ineident, and had
framed it o the information verbally received irom Sir M. O’'Dwyer
and on the scanty information transmitted by the Government of
India, the narrative would have heen of a different complexion from
the account of the fact given by General Dyer. [t would not and
conld not have included the eritical features on which discussion has
since centred. On the publication of General Dyers evidence, the
India Office would assuredly have beeu taken to task if it had fore-
stallad the Committee’s inquiries by publishing an imperfectly, and
as some porsons would have considered, misleading account oi what
actually bad happened. The Government of India in their despatch
forwarding the Committee’s Report say that in view of the fact that
a Committee was about to make a formal inivestigation, they _ had
deliberately refrained from instituting preliminary inquiries, The
India Oilice took the same view and I venture to think that its
roticence has been justified by the event.

““It is perhaps superfluous to say that 1 kept you fully infermed
of my conversations with Sir M. O’'Dwyer. My recolleétion is that
while recognising the great value of the information plaged hy him
at your disposal, you were as improssed as I was with the inadequacy
of our knowledge of what really happened at Amritsar and alse-
where, with the conflicting character of the rumours and assertions
appearing in the Indian and Anglo-Indian press, and with the
necvssity for awaiting a full inguiry on the spot by a strong
Committes.

Youre sincerely,
(Sd.) T. W, HoLDERKEsS,



1920] INDIAN INTERPELLATIONS 498

On 7th July 1920, the day before the famous Amritsag
Debate in the House of Commoqa, the Dyerites raised a how
against Mr. Montagu and plied hyn with questions.

Sir W. Joynson Hicks began the heckling by asking Mr,
Montagu whether he would publish the Report of Major Briggs,
the Brigade-major to General Dyer which was refused publication by
the Hunter Commitee owing to the death of the writer. Mr, Montagu
said that the document referred to was not admitted as evidence by
Lord Hunter’s Committee and had never been communicated officially.
[t wal appended to the statement submitted by General Dyer to the
Army Council and will be published with that statement.

Then Viscount Curzon and others asked whether all witnesses
including General Dyer called before the Hiinter Committee was given
an open opportunity of correcting the report of their evidence.
Mr. Montagu could not give a definite reply, but said that Gen.
Dyer’s statement has been published.

Sir W, Joynson-Hicks asked by private notice whether Mr.
Montagu was in a position to annouuce the decision of the Army
Council in reference to General Dyer and if, and when, he proposed
to publish General Dyer’s statement.

Mr. Churchill (//7er Minister) : 1 am about to lay a paper on
the table of the House in dummy which will, I hope, enable hon,
members to be in possession of General Dyer's statement in time
for the debate to-morrow. With regard to the decision of the Army
Council, they came to the following conclusion :—

The Army Council Decision.

“The Army Council have considered the report of the
Hunter Committee, together with the statement which Brigadier-
General Dyer has, by their directions, submitted to them. They
consider that inspite of the great difficulties of the position in
which this officer found himself on April 13th, 1919 at Jallianwalla
Bagh, he cannot be acquitted of an error of Judgment. They
observe that the Commander-in-Chief in India has removed Briga-
dier-Genl. Dyer from his employment ; that he has been informed
that no further employment will be offered him in India ; that he
has, in consequence, reverted to half-pay, and that the Seleotion
Board in India have passed him over from promotion. These decisions
the Army Council accept. They do not consider that further employ-
ment should be offered to Brigadier-General Dyer outside India.

Mr. Churohill also suid that they have also considered whether
any furthar action of a disciplinary nature is required from the Army
Council. In view of all the circumstances they do not feel called npon
from the military point of view, with which they are alone concerned
to take any further action,

60
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8ir W. Joynson-Hicks : s my right hon. friend prepared” to

endorse the action of the Army Council and is he aleo prepared to

defend it here-to-morrow ? p :

Mr, Churchill : Yes, certainly.

Lieut-Colonel Croft : 1s it nota fact that General Dyer, after
these avents happened, was employed tu take part in the operations
in Afghanistan ! _

The Speaker : The hon. and gallant gentleman is asking a
question which has been answered before.

Commander Bellairs : Will hon. Members be precluded irom
moving the adjournment of the House with regard to thec War
Office decision at a later stage, in view of the fact that the discussion
to-morrow is on the India Office Vote ?

The Speaker : 1 can “only answer in the well-known Parlia-
meontary phrase : ' ‘Wait and see” (Loud laughter in which Mr.
Asquith joined). .

Sir W. Joynson-Hicks asked Mr. Montagu how many appeals
had been referred to the Privy Council by persons counvicted of
rebellion, murder, and other serious offences during the Punjab distur-
banoes ; what had been the result of the appeal which had been
heard ; and what steps he was taking to defend the remainder.

Mr. Montagu : There have been six appeals of 52 persons.
One appesl of 21 persons has been heard and dismissed. The re-
maining five are pending. If proceeded with counsel of standing will
be retained to defend them in accordance with the usual practice.
My right hon, Friend the Attorney-General was one of those who
acted in these behalf in the appeal which was dismissed.

Sir W, Joynson-Hicks: May 1 ask what is the position of
the appeals T Are they going to be proceeded with or not 1

Mr. Montagu : That depends upon the appellants. My legal ad-
visers have, I think, pressed that the appeals should be proceeded with,

Dr. Muhammed Bashir.

Replying to Sir W. Joynson Hicks and Colonel Yate with
reference to the case of Dr. Mubammed Bashir, Mr. Montagu said
that Muhammed Bashir was sentenced to death by a Martial Law
Commission in the Amritear Leaders’ case, which included the
charge agaiust him of inciting the mob in the attack on the Nationsl
Bank. The sentence was reduced by Sir Edward Maclagan,
Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab, to one of six years’ rigoreus
impriconment. The two High Court Judgee appointed to examine
cases tried by Martial Law Courts agreed that the part of the case
againet the dootor relating to the events at the National Bank rested
on the uncorroborated testimony of an approver ; one Judge waa
of the opinion that there was sufficient evidence to justify s eomvie-
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tion for waging war only, but the other Judge would not admit thé
sufficiency of the evidence to justify m conviotion at all. The Punjab
Government, in the ciroumstances, r¢commended the release of Dr.
Muhammed Bashir and the Government of India accepted these
recommendations,

Sir W. Joyneon-Hicks: Can the right bon. Gentleman say
what the conditions were, whether they had been fulfilled and
whether this gentleman, who was convicted, sentenced to- death, and
let out, is the leader of an agitation in the Punjab ssa.inat. this
country?

Mr. Montagu: The oonditions were (1) that during the
remaining term of sentence he would not commit or abet the commis-
sion of an offence against the State or public tranquility, (2) that
during the same period he would not directly or indirectly take part
in any movement directed against the State or public tranquility, or
likely to lead to the commission of any offonce of the nature described
above, If any of these conditions be not, in the opinion of the Local
Government fulfilled, the Local Government may cancel the suspension
of the sentence. The hon, Member will perceive that under the terms
of the ocondition, the Loocal Government have full diseretion to act,
and I would prefer to leave it to the Local Government to act,

Colopel Yate : Do the Government of India think it right to
2o against four judges and is it likely to uphold the judiciary of India
when four judges out of five condemn a man and the Government of
India order his release!

Mr. Gwynne asked Mr. Montagu if, when he first heard of the
Amritsar occurrences, he tbought it a matter for immediate inquiry
and if so why he did not arrange for the commission to commence
procsedings before 29th October.

Mr. Montagu : As Istated in this House on the 22nd May,
1919, the Viceroy had always contemplated an inquiry and in the
first week of that month he intimated this fact to me. I eaid,
however, on the same date, “‘Let us talk of an inquiry When we have
put the fire out.” Any subs:quent delay was duve to olimatic
conditions and to the obvious difficulties in selectivg and arranging
for guch a committee.

Mr, Gwyune: Will the right hon. gentleman say on what dabe
he considered the fire to be put out?

Mr. Montagu : 1 would not like to say that aceurately iu
answer to s supplementary question, but I would suggest to the hon.
Member that it was certainly not before martial law. _

*  Mr. Gwyone: Does the right bon. gentlemen suggest it was
roasonable; taking into congideration all that he bas said, to wait
from April nntil the end of October before prooeedings were started?
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Mr. Montagu : I understand that tbat is ome of the charges
which the hon. Member will make in the debate. You ocannot hold
an inquiry of this kind iu the Dun,]ab dur:ng the hot weather, and
you cannot ask people to serve o an inquiry the date of which has
not yet been fixed.

Mr. Gwynne rose— -

Mr. Speaker: The hon. Member had better wait until to-morrow.
He is in danger of spoiling his case by this preliminary canter.

Nevertheless Mr. Gwynne continued his cross-examination and
pext asked Mr. Montagu if it was his intention to publish the
evidence of all the witnesses examined by the committee, or ekpect-
ed the House to form an opinion on extracts from evidence of a few
witnesses, as set forth in the Blue Book Cmd 681.

Mr. Montagu: The evidence of witnesses examined by the
Hunter Commiitted hag been published and is on sale; except that
of three witnesses heard “in camera.” Members were informed, on
a slip attached to the Report, which has been distributed, that
copios of evidence would be supplied on application to the India
Office.

Mr. Gwynne: Is the right hon. Gentleman aware that I have
applied twice in the Vote Office for a copy of the evidence, and have
been unable to got one?

Mr. Montagu : Nobody ean regret more than I do the mis-
fortunes of the hon. Member. I will see that ho gets a copy of the
evidence this alternoon.

Mr. Gwynne: Does not the right hon. gentleman thiak it is
very important that we should all have it? Is it not usual for bon.
Members to be able to get evidence of all important Commissions and
inquiries in this House?

Colonel Wedgwood : Will the right hon. Gentleman let mo have
a copy too?

Mr. Montagu : There ure, [ think, five volumes. If I printed
and distrilbuted (hem to every hon. Members, I should be aceused
of unnecossary expenditure. If the hon. Member has found any
difficulty in getting the evidence, it is rather remarkable that he
waits till the day before the debato is to take place,

Mr. Gwynne said : Mr. Montagu must know that it is usual
to send round such evidence. Continuing his questions Mr.
Gwynne asked Mr. Montagu at what date and through what source
he eventually became aware of the details of the occurrences at
Amritsar.

Mr. Montagu : Brigadier-general Dyer’s own reports were firat
received at the India Office in January, 1920, and the Committes’s
Report at the end of March, Earlier official reports had not given
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the details in question. It was in the previous December that I
read a newspaper cablegram reading what Brigadier-General Dyer
had said in evidence.

Mr. Gwynpe: Will the righ§ hon. Gentleman kindly answer
my question, which was from what source he eventually kept
himself informed as to the details of the occurrence?

Mr. Montagu: Perhaps the hon. Member will be good enough
to study carefully the printed report of the answer I have just read
to the House.

Colonel Yate: Can the right hon. Gentleman explain why
the Government of India did not send home General Dyer’s Report!

Mr. Speaker: That does not arise out of tha questian.

Mr. Remer asked Mr. Montagu whether the econtents of the
leading Indian newspapers containing comments on the Amritaar
disturbances and evidences given before the Hunter Commiesion wers
cabled to him, and particulatly whether a full Repoit of General
Dyer’s evidence before the Hunter Commission on 19th November
was oabled to him ; if they were not cabled, on what date the news-
papers published from April to July were received ; and whether he
made a careful study of them.

Mr, Mountagu : I do not think it isa part of the duty of
Ministers to explain what newspapers they read and with what
attention they read them.

Mr. Remer further asked whether he would state the names of
the two London newspapers he asked to interview Miss Sherwood
in October last. Mr, Montagu’s reply was : No. Sir, I do not think
it necessary to give this information,

Mr. Gwynne asked if there was any reason to believe that the
tribal rising in April and May 1919 had any conuection with the
disturbances throughout India and especially Punjab.

*Mr. Montagu replied that ho was not in a position to add
anything to the information given in paragraph 12 of Chapter XI of
the Hunter Report,

Brig.-Gen. Surtees asked Mr. Montagu if he had received any
reports from Aighanistnn and the border tribea, a8 to the activity of
Bolshevik agents in those countries, and ii that was resulting in
a dangerous effervescence directed against British rule in India ; and
if he had foand Bolshevik sgents working in the more disturbed
portion of that Empire, °

Mr. Montagu : I have received reports on Bolshevik aotivities
in the regions mentioned in the question. I know the Government
of India are carefully watching the propaganda, which is, of course,
dangerous in any country. 1 am consulting them as to the pnblica-

tion of a statement on the subject.



The Amrtsar Debate

In the House of Commons

Supply Day—8th July 1920
The House went into Committee of ly, Mr. Whitley
in the Chair. On the vote of £53, 500 to the charges

to March 31, 1921, for the contributions towards the cost
3’ the Department of the Secretary of state for India—

Mr. Montagu said : The motion that you have just read from
the Chair is historic. For the first time in the history of this House
the Committee have had an opportunity of voting or of paying the
salary of the Secretary of-State for India and it is signalized by a
very large desire for a reduction. (Laughter). I gather that the
intention i to oonfine the debate to the disturbances which took
place in India last year. That being so, after more careful consider-
ation in India, I have come to the conclusion that I shall best dis-
charge my Imperial duty by saying very little indeed. The situation
in India is very serious owing to the ovents of last yesr and owing
to the controversy which has arisen upon them., I am in the
poeition of having stated my views and the views of His Majesty's
Government, of which I am the spokesman. The despatch whioh
has been published and criticised was drawn up by & Cabinet Com-
mittee and approved by the whole Cabinet. I have no desire to
withdraw from or to add to that despatch. Every single body, eivil
and military, whioh has been oharged with the discussion of this
lamentable affair has come, generally speaking, to the same conclu-
sion.” The question before the Committee this afternoon is whether
they will endorse the position of His Majesty’s Government of the
Huuter Committee, of the Commander-in-Chief in India, and of the
Army Council or whether they will desire to censure thewm, I hope
the debate will not take the shape of a personal oriticism of the
personnel of any of them., It is so easy to quarrel with the judge
when you do not agree with his judgment.

Sir B, Carson :~—~-—And with an officer too.

Mr. Montagu :-——The Hunter Committee was chosen after
the most careful consideration with one single desire and motive to,
get a tribunal impartial to discharge the most thankless dvty to the
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best of their ability, was, I maintain, such a body, I resent very
much the insolent criticisms that have been pagsed either on the
European members, civil and military, or upon the distinguished
Indian members, each of whom has % record of loyal and patriotic
public service, The real issue can be stated in one sentence, and
I will content myself by asking the House one question, If an
officer justifies his conduct, no matter how gallant his record is—and
everybody knowe how gallant General Dyer’s record is—by saying
that there wae no question of undue severity, that if his means had
been greater the casualties would bave been greater, and that the
motivk was to teach a moral lesson to the whole of the Punjab, 1
say without hesitation, and I would ask the Committee to contradiet
me if I am wrong becauss the whole matter turus upon thie, that
it is a doctrine of terrorism. (Lieutenant-Commander Kenworthy
—Prussianism). 1f you agree to that, you justify everything that
General Dyer did. Once you are entitled to have regard neither to
the intentionus nor to tho conduct of a particular gathering, but to
shoot and to go on shooting with all the horrors that were involved
in order to teach somebody else a losson, you are embarking on
terrorism to which there is no end. (Cheers.)

I say further, that when you pass an order that all Indians must
crawl past a particular place, when yon pass an order to say that all
Indians must foreibly or voluntarily salaam any officer of His Majesty
the King, you are enforcing racial humiliation. [ say, thirdly, that
when you take selected schoolboys from a school, guilty or innocent,
and whip them publicly, when you put up a triangle where an out-
rage, which we all deplore, has taken place and whip people before
they have been convicted, when you flog a wedding party, you are
indulging in frightfulness, and there is no other adequate word which
could deseribe it,

ti the Committee follows me on these three assertions, and I
shall be only too glad if there be any answer, this is the choice
and this is the question which the Committee has put to it to-dsy"
before coming to an answer. Dismiss from your mind, I beg of you,
all personal questions. 1 have been pursued for the last three months
by some people and by some journals with personal attack. 1 do not
proposs to answer them to-dsy. Are you going to keep your hold

upon India by terrorism, racial humiliation
andhwbtiulnaa,orareyou going toreotltnponthegoodnﬂi
and the growing goodwill of the people of your Indian Empire? 1
believe that to be the whole question at issue. lf you decide in
favour of the latter course, well, then you have got to enforce it, It
is B0 mee oos Seesion passing a great Act of Parliament wh!e)a,.
whatowr its merite’ or demerits, proceeded on the pﬁmipla
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pertnership for India in the Britieh Commonwealth, and then allow-
ing your adminietration to depends upon terrorism. You have got to
aot in every Department, civil and military, unintermittently upon
a desire to recognise India as a partner in your Commonwealth. You
have got to safeguard your: administration on that Order passed by
the British. Parliament. You have got to revise any obsolete ordi-
nance or law which infringes the principles of liberty which you have
inculeated into the educated classes in India.

That is one choice, to adhere to the decision that you put in
your legislation when you are criticising the administration. Thére is
the other choice, to hold India by the sword, to recognise terro-
rism as part of your weapon, as part of your armament to guard
British honour and British life with callousness about Indian
honour and Indian life. India is oy your side in ensuring order.
Are you on India's side in ensuring that order is enforced with
the vanons of modern love of liberty in the British democracy 7 There
has been no cirticism of any officer, however drastic his action was,
in any province outside the Punjab. There were 37 instances of
firing during the terrible, dangerous disturbances of last year. The
Government of India and His Majesty’s Government have approved
86 oases and only censured one, censured one because, however good
the motive, I believe that it infringed the principle which has
always animated the British Army and infringed the priuciples upon
which our Indian Empire has been built.

Mr. Palmer—It saved a mutiny.

Mr. Montagu.—Somebody says that it saved a mutiny,

Captain W. Benn.—Do not answer him,

Mr. Moutagu—The great objection to the rule of force is that
you persue it without regard to the people who suffer from it and that
having once tried it you must go on, and that every time an incident
happens.you are oconfronted with the increasing animosity of the
people who suffer. There is no end to it until the people in whose
name we are governing India, the people of this country, and the
national pride and sentiment of the Indian people, rise together in
protest and terminate your rule in India as being impusible on
modern ideas of what an Empire means.

The Alternative to Terrorism.

There is an alternative policy which when I assumed office 1 com-
mended to this House and which this House has supported uuntil to day.
It is to put the coping stone on the glorious work which England has
aocomplished in India by leading India to a complete free partnerahip
in the British Commonwealth,—to say to India : "Wae hold British
1ives sacred, but we hold Indian lives sacred too. (Cheers). We
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want to safeguard British honour by protecting and safeguarding
India too, that our institutions  shall be gradually perfected whilst
protecting you and ourselves against revolutions and anarohy in order
that they commend themselves to yqu.” There is s theory abroad
on the part of those who bave criticised His Majesty’s Government'
upon this issue that an Indian is a person who is tolerable so long ae
he will obey your orders, (Ciies of “No,” “Shame” and “‘withdraw”)
but if once he joins tho educated class, if once he thinks for himself,
if once he takes advantage of the educetional facilities which you
have provided for him, if once he imbibes the ideas of individual
liberty which are dear to the British people, why then, you class him
as an educated Indiau and as an agitator (Cheers). What a terrible
and cynical verdict on the whole !

Mr. C. Palmer.—What a terrible speecn !

Mr. Montagu.—As you grind your machinery and turn your
graduate out of the University you are going to dub him as belong-
ing, at any rate, to the class from which your oppouente come.
(Hon. Members—''No.”)

Colonel Aehley.—On a point of order. May 1 ask the right hon,
Geuntleman to say against whom is he making bis accusation ?

The Chairman,—That is not a pcint of order, W are here to
hear different points of view, and all points of view. (Cheers)

Brigadier-General Cockerill—On  that point of order, Mr.
Chairman, are we not here to discuss the case of (zeneral Dyer}
W hat is the relevancy of these remarks to that !

The Chairman called on Mr. Montagu to resume his specch.

Mr. Moutagu.—If any of my arguments strike anybody as
irrelevant —

Mr. P’almer.—You are making an incendiary speech, )

Mr. Montagu—The whole point of my observations is directed
to this one question, that there is one theory upon which 1 think
General Dyer scted, the theory of terrorism and the theory of
subordination (Cheers). There is another theory, that .of part-
nership, and 1 am trying to justify the theory endorsed by this
House last year. 1 am suggesting to this House that the Act of
Parliament is useless unless you enfore it both in the keeping of
arder, and in the administration (Cheers). [ am trying to avoid any
discussion of details which do not to my mind affect that broad issue.

] am going .§0 submit to this House this question, on which 1
would-suggest withi.all respect they should vote: Is your theery or
ruje in India the asoendsnty of one race over another, of domination
apd subardination—{(Hon. Members,—“No”)—or, is your theory that

ol paptyership? 1f you are applying domination as your
then it follows that ypu must use the sword with increasing
61
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severity—(Hon. Members—“No”)—until ymtnedmn out of the
couttry by the united ‘operation, of the c:vtlued world., (Cheers
and interruption), (An Hon. Member— Bolshevism”). 1f your
theory is justice and pm'tnemhrp, then you will condemn a soldier,
however gallant, (Mr. Palmer.— ‘Without trial.””) who says that
there is no question of undue severity, and that he is teaching a
moral lesson to the whole country. That condemnation, as I said
at the beginning, has been meted out by everybody who has con-
sidered this question, civil and military. As far as 1 know, no
reputable Indian has suggested any punishment, any vindicativeness,
or anything more than the repudiation of the principles upon which
these acts were committed. 1 invite this House to choose and I
believe that the choice they make is fundamental to a continuance
of the British Empire and vital to the continuation, permanent I
helicvc¢ it van be, of the connextion between this country and
India. (Cheers.) -

Sir E. Carson.—I think upon reflection, that my right hon,
* Friend who has just addressed the House will see that the
kind of speech he has made is not one that is likely in any
sense to settle this unfortunate question. (Cheers.) My right
hon. Friend, with great deference to him, cannot settle artificially
the issue which we have to try. He has told us that the only
issue is as to whether we are in favour of a policy of terrorism and
insults towards our Indian fellow subjects, or whether we are
in favour of partuership with them in the Empire. What on earth
bas that to do with it? (Cheers.) {(Lieutenant Commanner
Kenworthy.—"‘Everything.”) [ should have thought that the matter
we are discussing is no grave both to this country and to our policy
in India that we might, at all eveuts, have expectad a Minister of
the Crown would have approached the matter in a much calmar
spirit than he has done (Cheers).
. An Hon, Member.—Ile ought to resign. -
An Hon. Member.—So should Ulster. (Interruption.)

The Chairman.—All round the House there seems to be &
lack of understanding as to the seriousuess of this matter, Tet me
remind the House that this is the first cocasion on: whhk we hive
had these Indian Estimates—that is to eay, !';ha aiary of" the-
Secretary of State—by deliberate aot of phe | - sl
reasons—put on the British Estimates, and wp onghiy:d:
recognise that occasion. (Cheers.) '

Sir E. Carson —If I thought that the real jssue UWM%
was stated by my right hon. friend, I would not take M’iﬁ'
debate, There would be no dlanenalon from the proposition Gh;tv
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he has laid dowa in thie House (Cheers). But it does not follow
because you lay down a general proposition of that kind that you
hsve brought those men, on whom you are relying in extremely
grave and diffieult circumstancesyas your officers in Indis, within
the category that you yourself are pleased to lay down. As to
whether they do come within those categories is the real gunestion.
My right hon. friend begs the question. (Cheers) After all, let
us even in the House of Commons try to be fair, some way or
other, to a gallant officer of 34 years’ service—(Colonel Wedgwood—
Five hundred people were shot)—without a blemish upon his
recorl, and whatever you say, and mind you this will bave a great
deal of effect on the conduct of officers in the future as to whether
or not they will bear the terrible responsibility, which they have
not asked for, but which you bave put upon them. We may at least
try to be fair and to recognise the real position in which this
officer is placed. (Cheers) So far as 1 am concerned, I would
like, at the outset, to say that ! do not believe for a moment it is
possible in this House, nor would it be right, to try this officer.
(Cheers.) To try this officer, who puts forward his defence as I
saw it for the first time an hour ago, would be a matter which
would take many days in this House. Therefore, you cannot do
it; but we have a right to ask : Has he ever had a fair trial ? and
to put this further question beforo you break him and send him
into disgrace : ls he going to have fair trial 1

You talk of the great principles of liberty which you have
laid down. General Dyer has a right to be brought within those
principles of liberty, and he has no right to be broken on the ipse
dizit of any Commission or Committee, however great, unless he
has been fairly tried—and he has uot been tried (Cheers). Do
look upon the position in which you have put an officer of this kind.
You® send bim to India, to = district seething with rebellion and
anarchy. You send him there without any assistance whatcver
from the Civil Government, because the Commission have found
that the condition of affairs was such in this distriet that the Civil
Government was in abeyance, and even the magistrate, as represen-
ting the civil power, who might bave been there to direct this
officer, had gone away on auother duty. I cannot put the
matter better than it was put before the Legislative Council
of India on September 19 last by the Adjutant-General of
India ;— ,

“My Lord,” he said, “my object in recounting to this Council i
some degres the messures taken by the military authority to
reconstitute civil order out of chaos produced by a state of rebellion
is to show there is another side to the picture, which is perbapa
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more apparent to the soldier than to the civilian eritic.” Now
mark this: “No more distastefnl or responsible duty falls to the
lot of the soldier than that wﬁich he is sometimes required to
discharge in aid of the civil pbwer. [f his measures are too mild
he faile in his duty ; if they are deemed to he excessive, he is liable
to be attacked as a cold blooded murderer. His position is one
demanding the highest degree of sympathy from all reasonable and
right-minded citizens. He is frequently called upon to act on the
spur of the moment in grave situations in which bhe intervenes,
because all the other resources of civilians had failed. His agtions
are liable to be judged hy ex posts ficlo standards, and by persons who
are in complete ignorance of the realities which he had to face. His
good faith is liable to be impugned by the very persons connected
with the organisation of the disorders which his action has foilod.
Therc are those who admit that measures of force may have been
necessary, but cannot agree with the extent of the force employed.
How can they be in a botter position to judge of that than the
officer on the spot? It must he remembered that when a rebellion
has been started against the Government it is a tantamount to a
declaration of war, and war cannot be conducted in accordauce with
standards of humanity to which we are accustomed in peace.”
(Cheers.) That wasa statement of tho position of General Dyer.
He went to Amritsar on April 10, and {found the place and all the
great towns in the immediate neighbourhood in a state of rehellion.
On April 11 and 12 murders of officials and bank managers weie
rife. The civil power had to abandon its functions, and he was
asked to make up his mind, as best he could, how to deal with the
sitnation. Now he is to be hroken hocause it was said that he made

up his mind wrongly. Yes, Sir, the armichair politician in Downing
Street

Colonel Wedgwood : What ara you!
Sir E. Carson : 1 am not a Bolshevist anyhow—

The armchnir politiciaus in Downing Street (cheers) had, no
doubt, a very diflicult task 1o periorm. 1 do not content that
in no case should they overrale what an otlicer had done in the spot,
but they ought to try to put themselves in the position of the man
whom they asked to deal with ditlicult circumstances. That flicer
had te decide whether the occurrence was u ‘riot, or an insurreetion,
or a rebellion, or a revolution, or a part of a revolution. There is
a great deal to show, even on the face of the report, that it was at
all events the precursor to a revolution. Different rules officially
'aid down were applicabla to each of those different matters. What
's the error of judgment? Itis admitted that he acted in perfect



1920] AMRITSAR DEBATE—CARSON $8b

good faith and in most diffioult circumstances with great courage snd
great decision; but the fanlt fqund with him is that, while he
thought that the circumstances necessitated that he should teach a
lesson to the country all round, the Committee thought that he ought
to have dealt with it solely as local matter. That is the difference—
and for that you are going to smash and break an officer who has
done his best. In reference to tho very action whioh you are going to
break him for, or have broken him for, after his 34 years of honour-
able service, you have to admit it may have been that which saved
the most bloody outrage in that country, which might have deluged
the place with the loss of thousands of lives and may have saved the
country from a mutiny to which the old mutiny in India would have
appeared small. Admit, if you like, in your armchair that he did
commit an error of judgment, but was it such that alone he ought
to bear the consequences! That is the way [ prefer to put the matter
because I cannot beliave you can betaiy the case here. I am sure
[ shall have the assent of any man who has had to do with govern-
ment and thinks the matter out, when I say that if you are going to
lay down here to-day this doctrine for your officers who are put into
thesn situation—''hefore you ac!, no matter what state of affairs
surrounds or confronts you, take care and sit down and ask your-
self what will Downing Street think, what will the House of Commeons
say to us, when they bave been stirred up six months afterwards”.
If that is to be the position of your officers and you make a scapegoat
of them because there is an ex post factv statement ¢ the events,
you will never get an officer to carry out his duties towards his
country.

I remoember, when I was First Lord of the Admiralty, I recalled
a Commander-in-chief because I thought he had, of two courses, taken
one which was very harmful to tha duty he had in hand. He came
and saw me afterwards and asked me for an explanation. [ said,
“you are perfectly entitled,” aud I handed him his own report
and I said to him’ “‘Let us not talk, Ias First Lord, or you as an
Admiral, but read your own report and tell me did you do the best
thing under the cirenmstances for the Admiralty and for yonr
country? He said, "No, Sir. The reason 1 took the course
wap because 1 did not know whether I would be supported by
the Admiralty.” | said to him, “‘your observation goes to show me
that 1 was right in recalling you because if you would not take
the consequences, and sct in the way you thought right, you are
not fit to be a commander”. Yes, sir, hut you have to deal with
human nature in the men you put into all these difficult places,
Do not let them suppose that if they da their best, unless on some
very grave consideration of dereliction of dulty, they will be
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made scapegoats of and be thrown to the wolves to satisfy un
agitation such as that which arose after this incident.

., You must back your men{ and it is not such a distinotion
as 1 have already shown, that ig the origin of this matter as to this
error of judgment, that will ever give confidence to those faithful
and patriotic citizens who have won for you and kept your great
Empire beyond the seas. The most extraordinary part of this case
is a8 to what happeued immediately after this incident oocurred,
and [ beg the house to pay attention to this part of the matter.
We all know perfectly well how differently every body views the
situation when the whole atmosphere is different and whén the
whole danger has passed away. What happened immediately
afterwards |

My right hon. Friend said that nobody in authority, as I under-
stood him, approved of General Dyer’s action. I will tell you who
approved it. Brigadier General Dyer, in his statement says :—

“On 14th April, 1919, I reported the firing in the Bagh to
Dl\‘lalona.l Head quarters in the report B. 21.

“On the next day or the day following, my Divisional Com-
mander Major-general Beynon, conveyed to me his approval.

“The Lieutenant Governor about the same time agreed with the
Divisional Commander.”

May I state here that I am very proud of him as an Irishman,
and I am very glad at all events that it is not an Irish man who
has thrown over his subordinate 1

‘What followed !

“On the 21st April with the concurrence of the authorities, I
went on & special mission to the Sikhs,

“On 8th May 1919 I was sent on active service in command
of my Brigade to the irontier.

“On about the 28th may, 1919, I wus detained to organise a'force
for the relief of Thal, then invested by the Afghan Army. On this
oocasion 1 had an interview with General Sir Arthur Barret, com-
manding at Peshawar. 1 had by then become aware that the
influences which had inspired the rebellion were starting an agitation
against those who had suppressed it.

“Sir A Barrett told me he wanted me to take command of the
relief force. [ told him that ! wished, if possible, to be free from
any auxiety about my action at Amritsar, which so far had been
approved. He said 'That’s all right, you would have heard shout
it long before this, if your action bhad not been app.roved 1 give
the precise words as nearly as I can.

“About the end of July, 1919, I saw the Commander-in-Chief.
He congratulated me on the relief of Thal. He said no word to me
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of censure about Amfritsar, but wmerely ordered me to write' s report
on it, which I did. ‘This report is dated the 25th Avgust, 1919,

“On the 85  September Major-General “Beynon -in ‘his
report on’ the rebellion made to A y Headquarters repeated his
previoue approval of my action, and added a testimony to my other
services in connection with the rebellion.

And so this officer was on, put day after day into more difficult
positions. After he bad carried out this work at Amritsar, 1 believe
he was promoted to a higher command. He bad not only that, but,
as | ggther from the evidence, he received the thanke of the native
community for having saved the situation, the thanks of some of
those, at all events who, when the danger was over and everything
was peaceful, turned upon bim and said he onght to be punished.
Yes, when that agitation began, everything took a different turn,
and the extraordinary part of it all was—and I am not going into
details of what has beeu going on by way of question and answer
in this House for the past three or four weeks-—that all through
these months my right han. Friend never even knew the trutb of
the affair. That is really a most extiraordinary matter. He¢ had
at the India Office during these months Sir Michel O’Dwyoer,
the Ex-Governor of the Punjab, meeting him day by dey and
getting his reports day by day from India, and be never took
a single step until this agitation broke out in India—an agitation
which only broke out after the situation had been practically saved.
That is & most unfortunate matter. If there was anything to be
investigated, if there was punishment to be meted out, it ought to
have been an immediate matter, not only in justice to General
Dyer but in justice to the lndian people. What is the good, six or
seven months afterwards, of trying to placate these people by going
back, aftor all these months, on everything that was done by the
Lteutenant Governor, by the Commander-in-Chief, and by the im-
mediate Divisional Commander, and telling them thnt they were
wrong. What do you get by it? Was there ever a more extra.
ordinary case than that of a man who comes forward and tells
you : I won the approval of my Divisional Commander and the
‘Lieutenant Governor of the Yrovince. 1 was given promaotion, 1
was sept to do more and more difficult jobs, and eight. months
afterwards, you tell me 1 shall never again be .employed:
bécause.'] have disgraced myselir by iuhmamty and an efror-of
judgmant " (Cheers)

I suppose he will have to besr his pumsh;'nent. [Hon. Members
“why1’] The Secretary for War and the Army Counocil bawe esid
it. et me say this: whatever ,be the reglities of the csse, however
you may approve of the doetrines laid doﬁ by my right hon. Friend
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—and 1 do ‘approve of them—however you may sapprove of the
Hunter Commission—and I find it difficult myself, having read the
report of the commission, to ag'reﬁ with some of the conclusions that
they came to. For instance, I find it difficult to agree with their cou-
clusion that there was no conspiracy to overthrow the British—

Lieutenant-Commander Kenworthy : you are an expert in that.

Sir E. Carson :—The hon. member opposite may be sure he is
so beneath contempt that-—(Inferrupfion)—I wonder... --. ...

How many members of the House and of the Government really
following out the conspiracy to drive the British out of India and
out of Egypt it is all one conspiracy. Itis all engineerod iIn the
same way and for the same object. 1 bhold in my hand a document
which was sent to me hy somebody in Awmerica fow days ago. It
goes through the whole of this case inits own peculiar way—this
case of the 13th April, in which you are going to punish General
Dyer because you were not satisfied that thore was a conspiracy
to overthrow British power, for that is the finding of the commission
although I notice that even on that question on which General Dycr
bad to make up his mind, they are themselves a little uneasy,
because they say :—

“Apart from the existence of any deeply laid scheme to over-
throw the British, a movement which had started in rioting and
become a rebellion might have rapidly developed iuto a revolution.”

Because General Dyer thought he ought to prevent it developing
into a revolution you have row broken him. [ have read the article,
and I ask my right hon. Friend to look at the document cntitled
“Invinecible Fngland,” and see what it says :

“There is no idea of putting England out of India, but Asia is
waking up. [ts participation in the Great War, the grossly immoral
tactice used by the great Furopean Powers, and the conquest of
Asian Territory, the realisation that the revolutionary clements of
Indis, Ireland, Egypt and other nations have shaken the supposed
invulnerability of England, is already morally loosening the hold of
Euvrope on Asia. England still retains her territory. She has also
grabbed Turkey, but her expulsion from Asis looms largely on the
horizon. Russia hss relinquishcd her sphere of influence in Persia,
aud has assured India that the present Russia is not Jike the
ambititious nation of the past, and has no expansionist ideas. She
has abandoned all the privilegea impreperly aoquired from China by
the late Government.”

And then it goes on :—

“Uncertainty, as concerne India, is in the air. Its influence on
the situption is unmistakable. Arms are lacking, it.is true, but India
has the will and determination to expel England.”
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If, that is true—and I am not arguing the causes or the policy,
of the Secretary of State in tryiyg to alleviate the situation thera
by the Act passed last year—all these matters are outside the dom-
ain of the soldier. Bat for Heav@n’s ‘sake, when you put a soldier
into these difficult positions, do not visit upon him punishment for
uttempting to deal to the best of his ability with a situation for
which he is not in the slightest degree respousible. (Cheers.) If
he makes an error of judgment, approach it with the full idea that
if he is bona fide and you can seo it was impossible for him in the
circuggstances to have calmly made up his mind in the way yon
woul?do, then you may censure him, but do not punish him, do not
break him, (Cheers) I should liko to ask my right hon. Friend,
if men are to be punished for an error of judgment such ae occurred
in this case, how many of those right hon. Gentlemen would now be
punished sitting on the Treasury bench (Loud cheers.) I hope we
may not get off on false issues.

I am speaking here with referenco to a soldier, whom I
believe I saw once, whom I otherwise do not know atall, 1 am
speaking of a man who in his long service has increased the confiden-
co he had gained of those under whom he was serving, who had
won the approval of the Lioutenant-(GGovernor of the Province, who
was acquainted with the whole facts—and who had got the approval
of the Divisional Commander and of the Commander-in-Chief. I say
to break a man under the ciicumstances of this case is un-English,

Mr. Churchill (President, Army Council).—1 shall certainly
ordeavour to follow very carefully and strictly the advieo my right
hon. Friend has given, that we should approach this subject in a
calm spirit, avoiding passions and attempts to excite prejudice.
Members ought to address themsolves to the subject with a desire to
do tg-day what is most in accordance with the long view of the gene-
ral interests of the British Empire. There has not been for many years
a case of this kind which raised so many grave and wide issues, or
in regard to which a right and wise decision is so necessary. Thera
is the intensity of racial feeling which has been aroused on both
sides in 1p8ia and every word we speak ought to have regard to that
(Hear, hear). There are the difficulties of military officers, who in
these turbulent times have been, or are likaly to be, called upon to
handle their troops in the suppression of civil disturbances ; there are
the requirements of justice and fair play towards an individusl
(cheers) ; and there are the moral and humanitariap conceptions in-
volved. All these combine to make the task of the Government and
ofh!the Committee one exceptional seriousness, delicacy and respon-
sibility. ®
* 1 will deal firat of all with the action of the Army Counefl, for

82
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which I accept full fesponsibility. The conduct of a military officer
may be dealt with by three perfectly distinct ways. First of all, he
may be removed from his employment, relegated to hali-pay, and
told that he has no prospect of (being employed again. This may
be done to him by a simple administrative act. It is sufficient
for the competeut superior authority to decide that the interests of
the public service would be better served if some one else were
appointed in his stead to justify and complete taking off of such a
step. The officer in question has no redress. He has no claim to a court
of inquiry or a Court-Martial. He has no protection of any kind
against being deprived of his appointment, and being informed that he
has no fu.ther prospects of getting another. This procedure may seem
somewhat harsh, but a little reflection will show that it is inevitable.
There is no excuse for superior authority not choosing the most
suitahle agants for particular duties and not removing unsuitable
agents from particular duties. During the War, as every member
of the Committee knows, hundreds, and probably thousands of
officers have been so dealt with by their saperiors ; and since the
war, the tremendous coutraction of the Army has imposed similar
hardships on hundreds, and possibly thousands ol officers against
whom not one word of reproach eould be uttered, and whose careers
in mauy cases have bean carcers of real distinetion and of invariablo
good service. This applies to all appointments in the Army, and
I have no doubt. in the Navy, too, and it applies with increasing
severity in proportion as thy appointments are high ones. From the
humhle lance corporal who reverted tu a private by the stroke of
the pen, if the ecolonel thonght he would prefer seme other subal-
tern, up to the highost general oc field-marshall, all officers are
amenable to this procedurs: in rvegard to the appoinments which
they held. The procodure is hardly ever challenged, and it is not
challenged by Goneral Dyer iu his statement. 1t is accepted with
soldierly fortitude, because it is believed, on the whole, that the

administration of these great responsibilities is carried out in a fair
and honest spirit,

Indeed, when one thinks of the hundreds of officers of high
rank who in the last year have had their professional carecrs
brought abtuotly aud finally to a close, and the patience, good
temper and dignity with which this great personal misfortune has
been borne, one canuot help feeling a great admiration for the
profession of arms to which those officers belong. That is the first
method by which military officers may be dealt with, Under this
procedure the officer reverts automatically to half-pay, and in a very
large proportion of cases, having reverted to half pay, he applies to
be placed on retired pay, because, especially in the case of senior
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officers retired pay is often appreciably higher than half-pay. The
second method is of a more seriouy charaoter, and affect, not the
employment of an officer, but his status and his rank. Here, it is
a question of retiring an officer compulsorily from service, or imposiug
on him some reduction or forfeiture in his pension or retired pay.

In this cass the officer i1s protected under article 527 of the
Royal Warrant, by the fact that it is necessary for three members of
the Army Council to approve the proceedings, and by certain rights
of laying his case before them. All the same the Secretary of State
for t'}ie time being, hy virtue of his office, has the power to make a
submission direct to the crown, and advice that av officer be retirod
compulsorily, or simply that his nams be removed from the list, Ifis
Majesty having no further use for his services.

Mr. Bottomley : What has all this to do with General Dyer—I
mean with the specific case we are dealing with ?

Mr. Churechill : I have great respect for the Committee, and I do
not believe it will refuse to allow a minister or a Government to unfold
a reasoned and solid argument to its attention; and I am surprised
that my hon. Friend, who himself takes a not undistinguished part
in debates, should not appreciate that faect, and should not be
willing to facilitate my doing so.

I was saying that is the sccond method, in which the personal
reputation of an officer is undoubtedly atfected. The third method is
of a definitely penal charactor. Honour, liberty, life are affucted,
Cashiering, imprisonment, or the death penalty may be involved, and
for this third category, of course, the wholo resources and protec-
tion which the judicial procedure, lawful tribunals and DBritish
Jjustice accord to an acoused person are brought into being.

Those are the three different levels of procedure in regard to
the treatment of the conduct of officers. Although my hon. Friend
has not seen the relevance of it, 1 think it right at the outset, to
unfold these distinctions very carefully to the committee, and to
ask the committee to bear them attentively in mind.

Coming to the case of General Dyer it will be seen that General
Dyer was removed from his appoiutment by the Commander-in-Chief
in India, that he was informed, as hundreds of officers had been
informed, that there was no prospect of further employment for him
under the Government of India, and that in consequence, he reverted
automatically to half-pay. These proceedings were brought formally
to the notice of the Army Council by a letter from the India Office,
which recommended further that he should be retired irom the
Army, and by a telegram from the Commander-in-Chief in Indis,
which similarly recommended that he should be ordered to retire,
That was about a month ago,
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At a latter stage it was brought publicly to the notice of the
Army Council by the published despatch of the Secretary of State
for India, which stated that the ofrcumstances of the case had been
referred to the Army Council. pThe first step taken by the Council
was to direct General Dyer—we had an application from him that
he desired to take this course —to submit a statement of his case
for their consideration.

The statement is, I think, in the possession of the Committee at
the present time. We asked him to make that statement, and we
acoepted his request that he should be allowed to make it, because
we folt that if any action was to be taken against him, apart®from
removing him from his appointment and employment in India, it
was essential that he should furnish a statement in his own behalf
and should be judged upon that amd not upon evidence which he had
given 88 a witness in any ingniry before which he had been summon-
ed without having any reason to believe that he was cited ag an
incriminated party.

Tho conclusion of the Hunter Committee might furnish the
fullest justification for removiug him from his appointment.

Commander Bellairs : No, no !

Mr. Churchill : I am expressing my opinion. When my hon. and.
gallant Friend is called, he will express his opinion. That is process
which we call Debate. But if any question of retirine General Dyer
from the Army was to be examined, flirect statement from Lim ip
his own defence was indispensable. The conclusion reached by the
Army Council, which have beecn communieatad to the House, was re-
ached unanimously and speaks for itself. It must be remembored,
however, that the Army Council must deal with these matrars, mainly,
from a military point of view. They had to consider the rights
and interests of officers and also to eousider the eifects of any deei-
siow which they may come to upon the confidence with which officers
will do their duty in the kind of extremely difficult and tragical
circumstances in which (General Dyer and a good many other officers
of the Army had in recent times bheen placed.

The Army Council have to express an opinion of Genral Dyor’s
conduct from what is primarily a service standpoint. Their func-
tion is one o great responsibility, but at the same time it is oue
of & limited and special responsilility.

NotkLing could he more unjust. that to represent the Army Council
as secking to raisc n constitutional issue, or setting themselves up
against the paramount authority of the Govt. of the country. 1
very much regret to have seen that that suggestion has been
made. 1t is quite unmerited and uncalled for. Asked to exprese
their opinion, they were bound to give it sincercly and plainly
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from their special stand-point. Their conclugions in no away
atfected the Final fresdom of action of the cabinet. The cabinet
has many interests to consider ar outside and beyond the
scope and suthority of s body Jke the Army Council which
is an administrative body, a subordivate body, and whioch is
not at the same time a judicial tribunal. If the Cabinet with their
superior authority and mere general outlook, took the view that fur-
ther action was required against General Dyer beyond the loss of
employment, beyond the censure pronounced by the Hunter Commis-
sion, by the Government of Indis, and by the Secretary of State’s
desp#tch, which was & cabinet document bearing the oconsidered
opinion of the Governmont; if it was thought further action of a
disciplinary character was required, the cabinet were perfectly free
to take it without any conflict of powers arising from the subordinate
gdminiatmtive Army Council, a'nd‘tha Supreme Executive Council of
tate. .

I made it perfectly clear to my colleagues on the Army
Council, that in assenting to the conclusion to which we came, as an
Army Council, I held myself perfectly free if I thought right and
if the cabinet so decided, to make & further submission to the Crown
for the retirement of General Dyer from the Army,

Liout. Colonel Croft : And the conversa may be true, also. The
cabinet upset the whole decision also in tha other directions?

Mr. Churchill : Certainly. The cabinet can certainly alter the
employment of any officer. 1 now come to explain and to justify
the decision of the Cabinet. This is the question I have been asking
myself and which I think the House should consider. Were we right
in accepting, as we have done, the conclusion of the Army Couneil
as terminating the matter so far as General Dyor is concerned, or
onght to have taken further action of a diseiplinary or quasi-discipli-
nary® character against him? Here, for the first time, 1 shall permit
myself to enter, to some extent, upon certain aspects of the merits
of the case.

However we may dwell upor the difficulties of General Dyer
during the Amritsar riots, upon the anxious and critical situation in
the Punjab, upon the danger to Europeans throughout that provincs,
upon the long dalays which have taken place in reaching a decision
about the officer, upon the procedure that was at this point or at
that point adupted, bowever we may dwell upon all this, one tre-
mendous fact stands out—the slaughter of nearly 400 persons,
and the wounding of probably three or four times as many at
the Jallianwalla Bagh. That is an episode which ap
to be without precedent or parallel in the modern hi
of the British Empire. It is an event of an entirely different order
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At a latter stage it was bronght publicly to the notice of the
Army Council by the published despateh of the Secretary of State
for Indis, which stated that the ofrcumstances of the case had been
referred to the Army Council. The first step taken by the Council
was to direot General Dyer--we had an application from him that
he desired to take this ¢ourse —to submit a statement of his case
for their consideration.

The statement is, I think, in the possession of the Committee at
the present time, We asked him to make that statement, and we
acoopted his request that he shonld be allowed to make it, because
we felt that if any action was to be taken against him, apart®irom
removing him from his appointment and employment in India, it
was essential that he should furnish a statement in his own behalf
and should be judged upon that aud not upon evidence which he had
given ag a witness in any inguiry lufore which he had been summon-
ed without having any reason fo believe that he was cited as an
incriminated party,

The coneclusion of the Hunter Committee might furnish the
fnllest justification for removing him from his appointment,

Commander Bellairs : No, no !

Mr. Churchill : I am expressing my opinion. When my hon. and
gallant Friend is called, he will express his opinion. That is process
which we call Debate. But if any question of retirin® General Dyer
from the Army was to be examined, direet statement from Lim in
his own defence was indispensable. Tha conclusion reached by the
Army Council, which have been communicated to the Houss, was re-
ached unanimously aud speaks for itself. It must be remombaerad,
however, that the Army Council must deal with these mattars, mainly,
from a military point of view, They had to consider the rights
and interests of officers and also to consider the eifcets of any deei-
sion which they may come to upon the confidence with which officers
will do their duty in the kind of extremecly difficult and tragical
eirenmetances 1n which (eneral Dyer and a good many other ofiicers
of the Army had in recent times heon placed.

The Army Council have to expross an opinion of Genral Dyer's
conduet from what is primarily aservice standpoint. Their fune-
tion is one of great responsibility, hut at the same time it is ono
of a limited and special responsibility.

NotLing could e more unjust, that to rapresent the Army Couneil
as secking to raise a constitutional issue, or setting themselves up
against the paramount authority of the Govt. of the country. I
very rauch regret to have seen that that suggestion has been
made. It is quite unmerited and uncalled for. Asked to exprese
their opinion, they were bound to give it sincerely and plainly
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from their special stand-point. Their conclusions in no away
affected the Final freedom of action of the cabimet. The cabinet
has many interests to consider ¥ar outside and beyond the
scope and suthority of a body yke the Army Counecil which
is an admipistrative body, a su inate body, and which is
not at the same time a judicial tribunal. If the Cabinet with their
superior authority and mere general outlook, took the view.that fur-
ther aotion was required against General Dyer beyond the loss of
employment, beyond the censure pronounced by the Hunter Commis-
sion, by the Government of India, and by the Secretary of State’s
despMch, which was a cabinet document bearing the considered
opinion of the Government; if it was thought further sction of &
disciplinary character was required, the oabinet were perfectly free
to take it without sny conflict of powers arising from the subordinate
administrative Army Counecil, gnd'—'hhe Supreme Executive Council of
State. ‘

I made it perfectly clear to my colleagues on the Army
Counecil, that in assenting to the conclusion to which we came, as an
Army Council, I held myself perfectly free if I thought right and
if the cabinet so decided, to make a further submission to the Crown
for the retirement of General Dyer from the Army,

Lieut. Colonel Croft : And the converse may be true, also. The
cabinet upset the whole decision also in tha other directions !

Mr. Chuarchill : Certainly. The cabinet can certainly alter the
employment of any officer. 1 now come to explain and to justify
the decision of the Cabinet. This is the question [ have been asking
myself and which I think tho House should consider. Were we right
in accepting, as we have done, the conclusion of the Army Counecil
as terminating the matter so far as General Dyer is concerned, or
ought to have taken further action of a diseiplinary or quasi-discipli-
nary* character against him 7 Here, for the first time, I shall permit
myself to enter, to some extent, upon certain aspects of the merits
of the case.

However we may dwell upon the difficulties of General Dyer
during the Amritsar riots, upon the anxious and critical situation in
the Punjab, upon the danger to Europeans throughout that province,
upon the long dalays which have taken place in reaching a decision
about the officer, upon the procedurc that was at this point or at
that point adupted, however we may dwell upon all this, one tre-
mendous fact stands out—the slaughter of nearly 400 persons,
and the wounding of probably three or four times as many at
the Jallianwalla Bagh. That is an episode which appeared
to be without precedent or parallel in the modern m:toty
of the British Empire. It is an event of an entirely different order
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from any of those tragic occurrences which take place when troops are
brought into collision with the ocivil population. It is an extraordi-
nary event, s monstrous event, aff event which stands in singular and
sinister isolation. OCollisions befween troops sud native populations
had been painfully frequent in the melancholy aftermath of the
Great War.

My right hon. Friend has reminded the House that in this parti-
cular series of disturbaneces there were 36 or 37 oases of firing upon the
crowd in India at this particular time, and there have been numerous
cases in Egypt. In all these cases the officer in command is placed
in » most painful, difficult and different position.

“I agree absolutely with the opinions quoted from the Adjutant
General in lndia as to the distasteful, painful, embarassing, torturing
situation, mental and moral, in which the British officers in command
of troops were placed, when he was called upon to decide whether or
not he should open fire, not upon the enemies of his country, but on
those who were his countrymen or who were citizens of our common-
Empire. But there were certain broad lines by which I think, an
officer in such cases could be guided. First of all the officer might
ask himself, *‘Is the crowd attacking any thing or anybody ? Are they
trying to force their way forward to the attack of some building or
troops or police, or are they attempting to attack some band of
porsons or some individual who has excited their hostility ¥* The
question is, “'Is the crowd armed ¥’ By armed I mean armed with
lethal weapons.

Sir W, Joynson-Hicks : How could they be in India?

Mr, Churchill : Men who take up arms against the State must
expect at any moment to be fired upon. Men who take up arms
uolawfully cannot expect that the troops wait until they are quite
ready to begin the conflict.

Mr. Dopald : What about Ireland ?

Mr, Churchill : I agree, and it is in regard to Ireland that I am
specially making this remark or until they have actually began fight-
ing. Armed men are in a category absolutely different from unarmed
men. An uparmed crowd stands in a totally different position from
an armed crowd. At Amritsar the crowd was neither armed nor
attaoking {(Cries of Oh!”). When I use the word “armed”, I mean
srmed with lethal weapons, or with firearms. There is no dispute
on that point, "I was confronted,” says General Dyer, “by a revolu-
tionary army.” What is the chief characteristic of an Army  Surely
it is that it is armed, This crowd was unarmed. There is another
test which is not quite so simple, but which nevertheless has often
served as a good guide to officers in these difticult situations—I mean
the dootrine that no more force should be used than is necessary
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to seours compliance with the law. The officer should also confine
himself to a limited and definite pbjective—that is to say, to pre-
vant a crowd from doing some thing they ought not to do, or to
compel them to do something which%hey ought to do.

My right hon. Friend (Sir E. Carson) will say it is casy enough
to talk like this, and to lay down these principles here in safe and
comfortable, and in the calm atmosphere of the House of Commons
or in armchair in Downing street or Whitehall, But it is quite a
different business on the spot in great emergency, confronted with a
howling mob, with a great city or a whole province, quivering
round with excitement. (Choers.) 1 quite agree. Still these
are good guides, and sound simple tests, and it is not too much
to ask of our officers to consider and observe them, After all,
our officers are accustomed to accomplish more difficult tasks
thun that, Over and over again we havo seen British officers
and soldicrs storm entrenchments under the heavivst fire with
half their number shot down beforo they entered the position of
the enemy, the certainty of a long bloody dsy before them, and
o tremendous bombardment crashing all around ; we have seen them
taking out their maps and watchos, and adjusting their caleulations
with the most minute detail. They had been seen showing not
merely mercy, but kindness to prisvners, observing restraint in the
treatment of them, punishing thoso who deserved to be punished
Ly the hard laws of war, and spairing those who might claim to be
admitted to the clemency of the conqueror, and they had been seen
exorting themselves to show pity and to help the wounded, even
to their own peril. They had done all that thousands of times ; and
in requiring them in moments of erisis dealing with ecivil riots,
when the danger is iucomparably less, to consider these broad,
simple guides, I do not think we are taxing them beyond their
provéd strength.

Commander Bellairs : what about the women and children %

ldeut.-colonel Croft: There are no women and children in
the trenches,

Mr. Churchill: I am bound to say I do not see to what part
of my argument that remark appliee. [ say I do net think it is
too much to ask a British officer in this painful, agonising position,
to pause and cousider these broad, simple guides—I do not even
call them rules—before he decides upon his course of conduot.
Under circumetances, in my opinion infinitely more trying, they
have shown themselves capable of arriving at right decisions.

If we offer these broad, positive guides to our oﬂioer's in
anxious] and dangerous times, if there are guides of a positive
character there is surely one guide which we oan offer them of a



496 HOUBE OF COMMONS [8 ovry

pegative oharacter. There is surely one general prokibition
which we can make. I m s prohibition against what' is
called ‘“‘frightiulness.” By frightfulness 1 mean inflicing great
slaughter or massacre on a particular crowd of people with the
intention of terrorizing not merely the rest of crowd, but the
whole district or the whole country. We cannot admit this
dootrine in any form. Frightfulness is not a remedy known to
the British Pharmacopsa.

I yield to no one in my detestation of Bolshevism and of the
revolutionary violence which precedes it. I share with my right
hon. Friend (Sir E. Carson) many of bis sentiments as to the world-
wide character of the seditious and revolutionary movement with
which we are confronted. But my hatred of Bolshevism and
Bolsheviks is not founded on their silly system of economies; or
their absurd doctrine of an imposeible equality., It arises from
the bloody and devastating lerrorism which they practice in every
land into which they have broken, and by which alone their erimi-
nal regime can be maintained. I have heard the hon. member
for Hill (Lieut. Commander Kenworthy) speak on this subject.
His dootrine and his policy is to support and palliate every form
of terrorism as long as it it the terrorism of revolutionaries against
the forces of law, loyalty and order. Goveruments who have
seized power by violence and usurpation bave often resorted to
terrorism to keep what they have stolen, but the British Empire,
where lawful authority descends from hand to hand, generation
after generation, does not need such aid. All such ideas were
absoluteiy foreign to the British way of doing things,

These observations are mainly of a general character, but
their relevance to the case understood, and they lead me to the
specific oircumstances of the fusillade at the Jallianwallah Bagh,
Let me marshal the facts. The crowd was not armed, except
with bludgeous, and it was not attacking anybody or anything.
When fire had been opened on it, it tried to run away, but it was
pinned up in & narrow space, cousiderably smaller than Trafslgar
square with hardly avy exite when one bullet would drive through
three or four bodies. The people ran madly this way and that
and ' the firing was only stopped when the ammunition was on the
point of exbaustion, enough being retained to provide for the
safety of the foroe omits return journey. Ii more troops had been
available, says this officer, the casualties would have been greater
in proportion. If the road had. pot been so narrow, the machine
guns and the armoured cara would kave joined .inm.. - Finally
when the ammunition had reached the point that only enough only
remained fo allow for .the safe return of the troops, u%nﬂu
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379 persons had been killed and when most oertainly 1,200 or
more had been wounded, the fyoops, at whom not even a stone
had been thrown, marched away, [ do not think it isin the
interests of the British Empire or 8Army to take a load of that
gort for all time upon our back, We have to make it absolutely
clear that this is not the British way of doing tbhings (Cheers.)

1 shall be told that it “‘saved India,” 1 do not believe it for
a moment, The British power in India does uot stand on such
foundations. [ am going to refer to the material foundations
of oug power very bluntly., Take the Mutiny as the datum line,
In those dnys thare were normally 19,060 British Troops in the
country and the ratio of British troops to Native troops was one
to five. The Native Indian Army hal a powerful Artillery, of
which they made tremendons use  There were no Railways, no
modern applinnees, and yot thet mutiny  was  effectively supprogsed
by the use of » military powor far inferior to that which we now
possess in India.  Siuee then tha British froops have heon raised
to 70,000 and upwards, and the ratio of British to Native troops
fs one to two. There is no native artillery of any kind. The power
and the importance of the artillery has ineransed in the meantime
10 and perhaps 20 fold. Sines then a whole serios of wonderful
and powerful war inventions have rome into haing, and the whole
apparatus of sciantific war is at the disposal of the British Govern.
ment in India—machine-guns, the magazine rifle, ecordite ammuni-
tion, w hich cannot he manufactured as gunpowder was manufactured
exespt by a seientific power, and which is all stored in the maga-
zines uuder the control of the whito troops. Then there have
been the grent developments whirh have followed the conquest
of the air and evolution of the aevoplane. Tven, it the railways
and felegraphs were cut or rendered nseless by a strike, motor
lorries and wireloss telegraphy wonld give increasingly the menns
of concentrating troops and taking them ahout the country with
an extraordinary and almost undreamed of facility.  Whon one
contemplates these solid, material facts, there is no need for
foolish panic or talk of ifs heing necessary to produce a situation
like that at Jallianwalla Bagh in order to save Indis. On the
contrary, as we contemplate the great physical forces and the
power at the disposal of the British Government in their relations
with the native popunlation of India, we ought to remember the
words of Macaulay—

“and then was seen what we believe to be the most frightful
of all spectanies, the strength of civilisation without its merey.” Our
reign in India or anywhere else had never rested on a basis of
physical force alone upon it,

63 \
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The British way of doing things has always meant close co-
operation with the people of the gountry. In no part of the British
Empire have we arrived at such success as in India whose princes
spent their treasure in our cause, whose brave soldiers fought side
by side with our own men, whose intelligent and gifted " people are
oo-operating at the present moment with us in every sphere of
government and of industry. In Xgypt there has recently been a
breakdown of the relations between the British and the people, and
we are trying to rebuild that relationship laboriously and patiently.
We have plenty of foree, if force were all, but what we are sgeking
was co-operation and good will. If such a rupture between the
Government and the people had taken place througbout the lndian
Empire, it would bave been one of the most melancholy events in
the history of the world. That it has not taken place is, I think,
largely due to the constructive policy.of His Majesty’s Government,
to which my right hon. Friend the Secretary of State for India has
made 8o great a personal contribution. 1 was astonished by my
right bon, Friend's sense of detachment when, in the supreme crisis
of the war, he calmly journeyed to India and remained for many
months absorbed and buried in Indian affairs. It was not until
what 1 saw in Egypt, and, if you like, what is going on in Ireland
to-day, that I appreciated the enormous utility of such service, from
the point of view of the national interests of tho British Empire,
in helping to keep alive that spirit of comardeship, that sense of
unity and of progress in co-operation, which must ever ally and bind
together the British and Indian peoples.

I do not conceal from the House my sincere personal opinion
that the conduot of General Dyer at Amritsar deserved not only
loss of employment and the measured censure which the Government
have pronounced, but also to be marked hy a definite discipljnary
act namely his being placed compulsorily on the retired list. But
we have only to turn to the statement of General Dyer; we have
only to cast our mind back tn the most powerful passage in
the speech of my tight hon. Friend (Sir E. Carson) to see that
such a course was barred, It is quite true that General Dyer’s
conduet has been approved by a succession of superiors above
him, who pronounced his defence, and that at different stages
events have taken place which it may well be argued amouated to
virtual condonation so far as a penal or disciplinary action is con-
cerned (Hear, hear). General Dyer may have done wrong, but,
at any rate, he has his rights, and do not see how, in face of such
virtaal condonation, it would have been possible, or could have been
oonsidered right, to take disciplinary action against him. For these
reasons the Cabinet found themselves in agreement with the
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conclusions of the Army Council, and to those woderate and.
considered oconclusions they confidently invite the sssent of the
House. {(Cheers.)

Mr.. Asquith: 1 have heard this afternoon so muoh sound and
excellent dootrine from the Treasury Bench, notwithstanding an
occasional deviation in one or two of his intercalary perorations from
my right hon. Friend (Mr. Charchill) who has just sat down, that
I shall content myself with two or three observations. The issue as
far as the Debate has gone, is reduced to a very narrow point. I
assumg that we have heard, as we always do hear from such & cousu-
mate advocate as my right hon. and iearned Friend (Sir E. Carson),
the full strength of the case that can be made against the Government
decision. To what does that case amourt? My right hon. and
learned Friend has not attempted to justify General Dyer’s action
on the merits. He made noattempt of any sort or kind to meet
the points which have been submitted to the Committee by the
Secretary of State for War. He had two suggestions and two only,
to support his general allegation of hardship aud grievaunce. The
first was an extraordinary one—that General Dyer had not had a
trial. General Dyer’s case has boen considered on his own
evidence before the Hunter Committee. [Hon. Membera:
“No!”] By what I think was an unfortuuate decision, many
of the witnesses who were available were not called and
examined,

His case was considered on his own evidence before the Hunter
Committee, Both of the Majority and Minority agree in their
condemnation, and their judgment is supported and endorsed by
the Government of India. It is confirmed not only by the Secreiary
of State but by the full Cabinet here. Then he represonts his case
as “hq has doue in the last few weeks, in an exparie statement of his
own, to the Army Council. The Army Couneil recousider the case,
and come to the same decision which had been arrived at by othor
suthorities. To say, in all the circumstances, that he has not had fair
hearing and ought to have anothor opportunity of saying whatever
he can say in his own defence, secems to me to be an abuse of
language (Hear, hear). It is undoubtedly the case that he had been
commended at the time by his superior officer and by the Lieutenant-
Governor. Whether they were then in full possession of the facts, 1
do net know : whether they wore impartial judges in the eiroums-
tances, I do not know. There was much of feverish, hectic excitement
in the atmosphere, They had very little opportunity of making dis-
passionate inquiry into the ease. I have heard nothing from the
right hon. and learned member (Carson) which could in any way
impugn the correctness and foroe of the decision concurrently arrived
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st by-so many suthorities. The case is as simple & oase as has-ever
been presented in the House. . o

Undoubtedly on the 10th April—I do not go into the larger
question whether there was o was not evidence of a conspiraoy in
the Punjab—very serious. riot occurred which involved both arson
and murder that was put down. During the three days.which
elapsed from the 10th to the 13th of April there had been no
outbreak. My right hon. Friend spoke of these days a very dark
and rife with murder. 1 do not know from what evidence he was
speaking. I know of no such evidence of any soat. On thg con-
srary, the riots wero put down on the 10th. The 11th and 12th
passed in perfect tranquility, or, at any rate, theré was no further
offensive.

Here 1 must offer a word of criticism on a poiut which has ot
a0 far been referred to at all in the tourse of the discussion. [ feel
that it is deeply to be deplored and reprshended that the civil
authority abdieated its funetion and handed over something very
much in the nature of a carle Wauiche to the Goneral in command.
It is the worst example, awwl in India particularly, itis a very
bad exmuple.  The civil authorivics were gailty of a gross dereliction
of duty in divesting themselves, or trying to divest themselves, of
their functions, aund handiug the whole thing over to the discretion
of the wilitary authorities. 1 caunot help thinking that if the
civil officors at Amritsar had, at the beginning of the transaetion,
tnkeu .a proper sense of the doty whieh the law of their office
tmpogedd on them, aml had controlled and directed, or at any rate
superiised, sbbsequent militsry operations, it is quite possible that
this terrible incident of the 13th might nover have oceurred.
(Chees). 1t is only fair and just to (General Dyer to say this,
in what 1 conceive to bn a most terrible error of judgment, and
even worse, he had not, in this very eritical and responsible situation,
the adivanutage which he was cutitled to have and which the Exeeu-
tive ought to have given him, of ths assistance and advice of the
civil authority familiar with all the loeal circumstances, gnd ultj-
mately raspousible for the maintenance of order.

But that criticism having been made, two d:i.ys passed in
tranquility, at any rate without further outrage. The General saw
fit to prohibit the holding of.a public meeting and he went round
the tewn with an escort and wirh drums for the purpose of commn-
nicating that prohibition to the population. The meeting, neverthe-
less, was held. As my right hen. Friend bas just pointed out, it
was & meeling of unarmed persons. 1 think tbat [ am right in_
paying that thers were women and childran thera as woll as men.

[Hon. Membhers : Noj



19260} AMRITEAR DEBATE—BEN SPOOR

Sir W. Joynsoi-Hicks : ‘There were no women or ehildren.:.

Mr. Asqoith: Be it so. I Jeliove that thére were boys, but:
be it so. it was an unbrmed crowd, in s closed space, from which the
exit were few and aerrow. Thepe is no evidence, nor could there
be, that the bulk of the people were aware of the Proclamation which
had been iasued earlier in the day. Geueral Dyer with his troops,
giving no warning of avy sort or Kkind, fires indiscriminately
into this mass of people until he has practically exhausted
the whole of his available ammuuition. There has never been
such an accident in the whole aunals of Anglo-Indian history nor,
1 belteve, in the history of our Empire (Hear, hear). To ask the
House of Commons to reverse the considered decision given after
hearing everything that (General Dyer had to say or put forward
to all these great respousible authorities, to reverse that decision
upon no new facts~—to take (Feuneral Dyer’s statement aud judge
him on that—is not only to fly in the faoce of the presumptions of
evidence and the rules of commoun seuse aud the practice of all eivil
and judicial tribunals, but is something much worse than that. It
is for the House of Commons to take upoun itself on behalf of the
British Empire as a whole, the reaponsibility of condoving and
adopting oue of the worst outrages in the whole of our histery
(Cheers). For my part, so far as I can command auy sauthority or
confidence among others in this House, it is an ocoasion on which
I ask my hon. Friends to give their hearty support to the Govern-
ment in the oourse which they have taken. (Cheers).

Mr. Ben Spoor: 1 beg to move that Item A (Salaries, £ 6,500) be
reduced by £100. [ hoped that Mr. Montagu would have deslt
at greater length with the extremely grave situation in India
and the result of the happenings of last year. 1 would like
to say how very much I appreciate, and all the members of
the Labour Party appreciate, the very definite declaration of the
Secretary of State with regard to the question of the Hunter
Report. | will only add this, that if the spirit which infused
the right hon. Gentleman’s speech infuses and directe tho policy of
the Government in lndia in the months abead, there is some chance
of paaceful relations being established betwean india and England,
Iam glad the right hou. Gentleman reminded the House how
extremely grave the situation is there. 1 wondered ae 1 heand
some of the rather unssemingly interfuption of time, whether thoge
who took part in the interruptions realised what was happening in
India at this moment, whether the interrupters knew that there
was 8 wane of nnrest that was full of dangerous possibilities, whathar
they realised that the Reforms that were passed through this Houose
and became an Act last year, and whkich it was hoped would shortly
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come into operation in India, were seriously prejudiced by the
attitude of the Indian people as & direct result of the policy that
led up to Amritear. In this Debate, I hope that the committee
will not lose sight of the attitude,of the ludian people themselves,
I am quite sure that the sentiment of which we have had abundant
evidenoce this afternoon, the sentiment of sympathy with some officers
to whom direct reference has been made, is a sentiment not shared by
many people outside this House. I would like to suggest to apy
Indian who may bhe present in the Chamber—

Mr. Palmer : Is it in order for an hon. member to addrass the
gallery, and not the Committee ?

The Deputy-Chairman : I am sorry that for the moment 1 was
not paying attention to the hon. Gentleman's remarks. If he will
proceed, 1 will listen carefully.

Mr. Spoor : 1 am extrewely sorry. if I have said anything not in
accordance with ordinary procedure in our Debates. 1f what I have
said was not in order 1 withdraw it. I will put the matter this
way. I would be extremely sorry if 1 thought that people outside
the Commone, whether British or Indian, believed that the senti-
ment of which we have had evidence this afterncon represented in
auy real degree the feeling of the people of this country. A fort-
night ago the Labour Party held a great conference and passed a
resolution on that subject which some people no donbt thought was
of an extreme character. It asked for the recall of the Viceroy, the
impeachment of Sir M. O’Dwyer, the trial of officers against whom
allegations have been made, and the repeal of repressive Legislation
and coercive Legislation which more than any thing else has
contributed to the present unhappy state of affairs in India. That
resolution exprossed the counsidered opinion of Labour Party outside
the House of Commons. It was a resolution framed by men not
unfamiliar with tho Indian eituation, and it commarded 'the
unanimous support of the whole Conference. In all seriousness, I
submit thal that resolution and the sentiment that was in evidence
at the ponference much more correctly express what I believe to be
the general fecling of the public in this country than the exhibition
we have had here this afteruoon. Sir E. Carson said :  “Let us be
fair to a distinguished soldier.” 1 want to be let them be fair to the
hundreds of Indians who have lost their lives, and to the chﬂd!‘an
who were bombed from the air'by British Officers.

1 am quite sure that no reasonable being could attempt for a
single moment the defence of many of the horrible acts that took
place, and when we ask for justice for our own generals and
officers—and [ bope justice will be done to them—let us also insist
upon equal justice for the people of India themselves. [ would
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like to refer to the broad fact of the Indian situstion as it existed
in the time immediately préceding these events. Those of us who
took any part in the Indian debates last year had abundant evidence
of the extraordinary outburst of political opinion, the extra-
ordindry awakening of political consciouspess, to which reference
has been made already to-day. During the war promises were
made to the Indian people, and in a measure an attempt was made
in the Act of last year to give effect to those promises. Yet, at the
game time that we were promising the people of India that we
would apply the Printiple of Seli-determination to the country and
give them Home Rule, those activities were countered hy repressive
legislation throughout India and move particularly in the Punjab ;
they were countered not only by rapressive legislation, but by Aots
that have been rightly described here as Acts of unrestrained
Prussianiam. The inevitable kappened. The Secretary of State for
India in his despatch has condemned General Dyer severely. Ha
sperks of him as having on one occasion violated every oanon of
civilised Government. Even the Government of Indin seems to
regret the inhumanity of this British officer.

Sir J. D. Rees : why “Even the Government of India ?"

Mi. Spoor : 1f the hon. Memher will wait a moment, 1 will
answer his query. [ am going to suggest that the Government of
India share o great measure of responsibility for this tragedy. The
Government of India wero behind the policy that led up to those
unfortunate avents. But even the Government of India regretted
the inhumanity of General Dyer. I want to suggest thut Amritsar
is not an isolated event any more than General Dyer is an isolated
officer. These are not things that can he judged apart, if they
resulted from a certain policy that some men have pursued, from a
certgin mentality that some men seom to possess in India in a most
extraordinary degree. Talking about the curious mentality of some
Anglo Indians, may [ be permitted to quote one short paragraph
from the evidence of tho Brigadier-General Commanding tho Delhi
Brigade ? It is taken from volume one page 172 of the evidencs,

“Composed as the crowd was of the scum of Delbi, | am of
opinion that if they had got a bit more firing given them it would
have done them a world of good, and their attitude would be much
more amenable and respectful, as force is the only thing that an
Asiatic has any respect for.”

I put it that if that is a typical example of a British officer in
India——

Colonel Wedgwood : It is not. ,

Mr. Spoor : If it is not a typical example, 1 would ask, is that
British officer still in India ! Is he still in a position of authority
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or has he been ealled upon to resign 7 I said that the bappenings iu
India resulted from certain polieys on the one hand, and a curious
mentality on the other. As far as the Punjab was concerned, the
policy was obviously that of Sir#Michael O’'Dwyar. On page 92 of
the Hunter Committee Report the Minority point out that his
speach in the Lagislative Council in Septemher 1917 was regarded
a8 an attack on the edncated classes, that he prohibited during his
administration certain political leaders from entering the Punjab,
and that he put the Press Act more rigorously into operation in the
Punjab than elsewhere. In a word his administration was tyrapnieal.
He revealed no qualities of statesmanship.

Sir Charles Oman : That ir not the report, but the Minority
Report to which you are referring ¥’

Mr, Spoor : Yes. He revealed no qualities of statesmanship :
he showel always a blunt reliance ~on foree. It was Sir Michael
O'Dwyor who was primarily responsible for the use of aeroplanes
al. Gujranwala. In connection with that raid, T bhelieve, homhs
were acfually dropped into the play ground of a school.  According
to the Congress report, all disorder that had occurred in Gujranwala
had actually ceased before the aeroplanes arrived and began their
bombardment. I suhmit that Sir M. O’dwyer and those like him
typify that kind of Anglo, Indian who is the greatest menace to
the security of the Empire and the greatest barrier to the progressive
realisation of responsible Government in Iudia, Behind Sir M,
O’'Dwyer we have the Viceroy and he cannot hy any manner or
moans evade his responsibility in this erisis.

Farl Winterton : On a point of order. 1t is not in order to
criticice the action of the Vieeray of Irelind save on a substantive
motion. | submit that by the rulings of succossive speakers if i3
equally out of order to criticise the doings of the Viceroy of India
in his executive capaecity without putting down his substantive
motion.

The Deputy-Chairman : Tha Noble Lord is quite right. It is
not in order to discuss the conduct of the Vieeroy except upon a
motion put down for that purpose,

Colonel Wedgwood : When the Mesopotamia Report was dfs-
cussed in this House the conduet of the Viesroy was attacked
thon, and no ruling was made that such an attack was no* to be
allowed. 1 think we ought to protest at once ugainst the idea that
we are not to he allowed to eriticise the actions of the Viceroy and
Executive of India in this Debate.

Mr. Spoor : T was speaking of the Viceroy as the president and
represontative of the Indian Government. The Indian Government
a8 the overruling authority, cannot possibly evade their responsibili-
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ties in this matter. I am one of those—and I am sure there are many
others in the House—who do n®t like the idea of General Dyer
being made a scape-goat of in connection with these matters. The
truly responsible persons must be Wiscovered, and, without vindic-
tiveness, they must be punished in justice to the people of India.
Therefore, when I use the name of the Viceroy, I refer to him
in his capacity as President and Governing Head of the India
Government. I do submit respectfully, one is not only entitled, but
almost compelled, to make references to the Ruling Head of India in
a Dehate of this character, if we sre to allocate responsibility in the
fairest possible way. What I was going to say with regard to Lord
Chelmsford I will leave unsaid in deference to your ruling.

The Deputy-Chairman : The hon. Member must not disouss the
actions of the Viceroy, Hoe is entitled to refer to the actions of the
Government of India. .

Mr, Spoor : I think it is quite elear that what one is oriticising
is the policy for which the Government of India have to be respon-
sible and a policy which has contributed far more than has yet been
admitted in this House to the serious situation that at present
exists in this country. Wae, therefore, ask that the Vieceroy and
Sir Michel O'Dwyer should be desalt with in a way that would secure
justice for the Indian people. 1 referred just now to the curious
mentality of some Anglo-Indians. Thero msay be some climatie
explanation—one cannot tell—but the fact is they are of the most
oxtraordinary meutality which seems to possess some of those in
positions of authority out in thal country. India may be governed
by consent; she will never again be governed by force. (Cheers)
Any attempt to do so is to act contrary to the often declared princi-
ple that has governed the policy of his Majesty’s Government, not
only dn India, but in all parts of the Empire. Every contributory
cause to that extraordinary mentality must be removed. There
wore three courses open to the Government. The first is that which
would be advocated by those who believe that General Dyer and
his colleagues had saved the country. The first course-—a frank
approval of the Head of the Indian Government, Sir Michel O'Dyer,
General Dyer, and the other officers implicated. The second course
is the one which has apparently been followed up to now by the
Secretary of State for India, that is to say, approval of the Indian
Government and approval of Sir Michel O'Dwyer, but condemna-
tion of General Dyer, who, after all, is the instrument of their will,
The third, and the only logical course, is to be found in the pursu-
anoe of the liberal spirit which is supposed to inspire the Reforms
of last year, and which we were told this afternoon aims at leading
the people of India into Liberty, 1f this last course is followed it
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obviously involves the condemnation of all those who have been
responsible for this reactionary policy. We, of the Labour Party,
and 1 speak for all my colleagues, stand for the last course as the
only one which is consistent with our national honour and obligation.
It involves the recall of the Head of Indian Government, the trial
of Sir. M. O’Dwyer, General Dyer and others implicated, a trial in
His Majesty’s Courts of Justice. I may, in passing, submit that
they will probably have a more judicial hearing and receive a more
impartial trial there than they are likely to seoure from the columns
of ""Morning post” or the columns of the “Times.” ‘

Last of all, and to me it is really wmore important, our Govern-
ment should take action in this matter and immediately repeal all
that repressive and coercive and totally unmnecessary legislation
which has defaced the Statute Book in India, and which bas had
no uther effect than to promote continual irritation and dissatisfac-
tiou. Unless tha! legislation is immediately repealed and the people
of India are made (o realise that they are in the Empire on equal
terms, so far as their ordinary rights are concerned, with every
British citizen, there is not the slightest hope of peace in that
conntry. If tho Government do not do this, then it is impossible
to say what the consequences will be and the situation in India will
not improve. I have referred to the feeling of bitter indignation
that swept and is still sweeping over India, and are you not going
to remove that fecling Ly calling on the British General who happen-
ed to lose his head to resign? You have got to do a great deal fur-
ther. You will ouly do it by showing, unmistakably, that the policy
of governing Judia by a military poliey and by getting rid of the
prehistoric meutal outlook which possess individuals out there,
is  tha foundation of unrest in India. I wonder how familiar
ruemnbers are with the movement that has recently been initiated
in India, and which is calling upon the Indian people to refuse to co-
operate in the working of the Act that was passed last year. It is
a movement. which has spread with great rapidity, and it is & move-
ment which has the support, not ouly of the Extremists, but alse
of moderate men, and it is » movement which, if it is persisted in
and dovelopad, will most cartaiuly make the working of Reforms
altogether impossible. | am owne of those who want to see the
prople of Indin really free. 1 hope to God they are not going to
wade through blood to get that freedom ; but if we want to destory
this non-co-operation movement, sud to remove the justification for
it, we can only do so in so far as we are prepared to do justice to the
pecple of India in regard to the tragedies of last year, Some of va
hope much from the Reiorme which wore passed. Some of us believed
we were present at the birth of a new understanding between East
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aod West. Those hopes will never be realised, unless tha Govern-
ment is prepared to act with courage and decision, and unless the
Government is prepared to rﬁpud?jte in the most emphatic manner
possible those men whose polioy, if continued, will surely wreck
all possibilities of co-operation bstween an awakened India and
ourselves. .

Lieutenant-General Sir Hunter Weston,as one who had served
with native troops in lndis, appealed to the Committee to exercise
moderation in what they said about the regrettable occurrences in
India, and with a due feeling of responsibility and of the harm that
migh? be done by intemperate speeches on either side. There was
a great danger of exacerbating feeling between the British section of
the population of India and that conglomeration of different races,
ditferent religions and, indeed, of different civil nations which they
were apt to class as one, as thg people of ludia. There was un-
doubtedly present a certain strain in the relations between the British
population in India and certain sections of the Indian races, and to
still further aggravate that feeling would be to do the gravest
disservice to their country. General Dyor by his record had shown
himself to be a man and an officer well abla to deal with throatening
situations without the use of forco. The evidence contained in the
Report of Lord Hunter's Committee could not be used against
apy man in any Court of Law, either civil or military, and, therefore,
it should not be used as the basis of defence or attack in that House
or outside. In principle, the use of the military in aid of the ecivil
power was the same in that country and in India. To allow anything
in the nature of “irightfulness” was abhorrent to the British Nation,
and therefore to the British Army. 1f hoth the Commander-in-Chicf
in India and the Army Council had decided that General Dyer should
be relieved of his command, the Committee might he sure that he had
been*treated fairly, and that no good could be done to him, to the
Army, or to the country by attackiug a decision made by respousible
soldiers, who had the full confidence of the Army and the Nation,
and had the facts fully before them and the hest legal adviee at their
disposal.

He appesaled to those who dnsired to defend an eminent soldier
not to attack those other emineut soldiers who had to adjudicata on
the case, and especially not to eay anything which conld be quoted
in the difficult days ahead as showing that members of Parliament
approved anything which could give colour to the assertion that
the British Army might be used ae an instrument of oppression.
Upon those members, whose sympathy with the relatives of those
who lost their lives at the Jallianwala Bagh prompted them to
condemn General Dyer utterly, and to call upon the Government to



508 HOUSE OF COMMONS [8 sury

punigh him still further, he urged moderation in the expression of
their opinion, remembering thaf harm might be done by their
words in embittering feeling in India and adding to the difficalties
of those who in the future would have to uphold law and order.

The situation with which General Dyer had to deal had been
in existence for some time, and before his arrival, had led to the
murder of Europeans, to an assault apon an English woman, to loss
of life among the natives, and to much damage to property. The
terms of written order given to him by the ecivil authority on
his arrival on April 11, were : “The Troops have orders to restore
order in Amritear and to use all force necessary. No gathefing of
persons nor procession of any sort will be allowed, All gatherings
will be fired on.” That notice was given out to several of the
citizens on April 11. On the afternoon of April 13 having received
notice from the Superinteudent of Police that a crowd was assem-
bling in the Jhallianwala Bagh, a park in Amritsar city, General
Dyer marched to the spot, and found a huge assembly of many
thousands of people, who appeared to him to be in a dangerous
mood. A determined rush might easily overwhelm his little force
of B0 native soldiers armed with rifles, and 40 armed only with
kukris, General Dyer and his little band were entirely isolated in
the city, Narrow streets were behind him, his flanks and rear were
open to attack, and no reinforcomeuts were within reach. If this
little band, who were the sole guardians of law and order, had been
overwhelmed, there was nothing to hold in check instigators of
crime and insurrection, nothiug to prevent the recurrence of the loot
and murder and arson which had raged in the city only three days
before. (Hear. hear.) Any hesitation on General Dyer’s part, any
failure to use, and touse at once, the necessary force might have
been the spark that would light the conflagration of another mutiny.
No one who had not been placed in a similiar situation should
venture to condemn General Dyer. (Cheers.)

Lieutenant Colonel James said that, as it appeared to him,
the question was one affecting not =0 much the Indian Empire as
justice. When General Dyer put in his statement to the Army
Couneil, oue should have thought that the natural thing would have
been to send for him and ask for oral explanations. He understood
that procedure was never followed at the War Office, and he thought
that alone vitiated the virtue of appeal. Unless they could have a
man face to face with the president of the tribunal they could not
form a proper judgment on his case. General Dyer was faced with
an unparalleled situation and the only judge of the amount of force
which should be used at the moment was he himself. (Cheers)
To say that there was no evidence of a general conspjracy in India
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was just as absurd as it would be to set upa board of inquiry in
Ireland at the present moment, and to say that there was no evi-
dence of constables being killed, lf}o!‘ the simple reason that they had
not been caught (Laughter and gheers). He asked hon. Members
to stand for the cause of justice, fair play and moderation towards
the great mass of the loyal Indian peoples, who would be the first
to suffer if they in that House did not stand by their own people.
(Cheers.)

Sir W. Joynson Hicks : I came down to the House very fully
intentioned to make a very moderate statement, and to deal in my
remarks with the wider question of the future of our government
in India, rather than to speak on the actual case of Goneral Dyer.
I should like to congratulate the hon. and gallant Gentleman who
has just disappeared so rapidly after making his maiden speech ;
the whole House, I should say, will like to hear him again. I should
like to refer for one moment to the hon. and gallant Member for Nor-
thampton, and the very fine speech in which he put the case of
(Gencral Dyer admirably. He deseribed the Amritsar events of
that awful afternoon of 13th April. Yot I do not know whether
avery one in the Committee heard the heginning of the speech, He
appealed to the hon. Members as Membars of this House, to support
the decision of the Army Counecil tecause the Army Council has
come to a decision. Really, the second part ¢f the speech of
my right hon. Friend was a complele justification for anyone who
votos agaiust the decision of the Army Council. I want to say at
once that as a membor of this House I am not prepared to abdicate
not. merely my rights but my duty of taking part in this debate, and
of snpporiing my convictions by my vote, and, if necessary, voting
against the decision of the Army Council, which has been put for-
ward for justification on the ground that it is a decision of the Army
Coulicil. What is the House of Commons for? What is this
Debate for 7 1 am glad to see that my right hon. Friend the Secre-
tary of State ackuowledges the correctness of what I say as to what
is the right and the duty of the House of Commons, We are here
to debabe questions, aml to say what we believe to be right, not
merely to confirm the views of soie other body.

After all, we are, as [ think the right hon. Gentleman the
member for Paisely (Mr. Asquith) once described the House of
Commons to be . “The great inquest of the Nation.” We are the
beat Court to which General Dyer, or any other person aggrieved by
the actiou of any Government Deparrment, can come. Genersl
Dyer hus appealed to the Commander-in Chief. He hasappealed to the
Secretary of State, He has appealed to the Army Council. In the
last resources he appeals to us. We bave to decide the case. We
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have to decide one way or the other. My hon. and gallant Friend
made a powerful appeal for moderation in regard to this matter. I
do not intend to attack the Secrdtary of State. But I think I muat
say that a more disastrous speech—and I say that with a sense of
responsibility and the hope tHat my words may be believed—has
never been made on the . Amritear affair. I had just returned from
a visit to India and to Amritsar, and the opinions |1 am expressing
as to the events which took place there are held by at least 80 per
oent. of the Indian Civil Service throughout India and 90 per cent.
of the European people. (Hear hear.) The Secratary of State for
India has, for some time past, entirely lost the confidence ¢f the
Indian Civil Service. (Cheers.) It is a very serious matter, and the
speech of the Secretary of State on this afternoon will have utterly
destroyed any little shreds of confidence which was left to
him, not merely in the minds of the Indian Civil Service, but in the
minds of the British Army in India.' (Cheers.) It is difficult in the
face of the speoch to make a moderate speech, which was merely
one long vituperation of General Dyer in his action in India, and
one long appeal to racial passions, (Cheers.)

The right hon. Gentleman, the Member for Paisley asked for
a defence of General Dyer. He asked whether there was any body
in this House prepared to say that General Dyer did right. 1 am
prepared to say so. Iam backed up in that opinion, as [ say, by
80 per cent, of the Indian Civilians and by 90 per cent. of the
European population,

Mr. Mille : Where did you get those figures !

Sir W, Joynson Hicks: In lndia. I devoted my time in
India to seeing and speaking to overy one I could, both agitators
as well as the governing classes. 1 did my best to form an accurate
opinion. There is one person whose opinion 1 think may carry
weight with this House. Hon. Members had heard of the dady
missionary who had nearly been killed in Amritsar on 10th April,
I refer to Miss Sherwood. She has told the whole of the facts
of the case, how she has lived for 15 years amongst the Indian popu-
lation, how she was torn from her bicycle while riding to from her
work, how she was battered from head to foot, how she was left
for dead, and how subsequently she was carried into a house, and
ufter being there a little while had to be carried to another.

Mr. Mills: By Indians 1

Sir W, Joynson Hicks: By Indians, who were themselves
sttacked for having so carried her into the house. Miss Sher-
wood after her return to England, I think 1 am correct
in saying, went to see the Secretary of State for India, and:
declinad to accept any money compensation. She would not take
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blood-money from this country. I have seen her, 1 have sean
General Dyer and Sir M. O'Dwyer. Miss Sherwood has asked me
toread to the House of Commons a letter which she has written,
and I orave the indulgence of the ®ommittee while I read it. It
is a letter from an Englishwoman on the spot who, even after her
ill-treatment, still hopes and intends to go back to the Punjab.
She eays :

“I have lived in the Amritsar neighbourhood for nearly 15
years, and my work in connection with the Church of England
Zenang Missionary Society has brought me into close contact with
the homes of the Punjab, bothin Village and City. Moreover, 1
wa8 superintendent and manager of the City Mission Schools for
over 600 girls, Hindu and Muhammadan, at the time of the riots.
As is known to you, I was almost killed on the 10th of April
and was, in fact, left for dead m the streets of Amritsar. I was
picked up and carried into the fort, where I lay for 19 days befors
1 could be removed to England. During that time I heard all
about the further riots and the shooting on the 13th from people who
were in touch with what was happening. In March people of Amrit-
sar bazars were talking of striking. Tho prospect of the police
even joining it was discussed.”

I want the Committee to realise the position of affairs in Amrit-
sar and the whole of the Puujab.

“Never mind if they don’t, we ourselves will fight”, is a transla-
tion of the actual words used. OUn the day I was wounded, I saw
men tearing down poles from shop awnings and seizing hold of
anything likely to serve for a weapon, and a rushing out of the city
to a given rendezvous.”

“To teach the people that a wrong was done them (as sedition-
mongers are doing, backed by English people) is a cruel and wicked
thing, and far from mending matters will make them infinitely
worse., No Indian in writing or conversation with me has referred
to the repressive measures as other than meet and right under the
circumstances. [ should like to say that, loving the people as 1
do, having worked amongst them for years, and still hoping to ge
back to Indis, I am convinced that there was real rebellion in the
Punijab, and that General Dyer saved Indis and us from a repstition
of the miseries and cruelties of 1857.”

I have letters from five other English missionary ladies who
were in Amritsar at the time, and who went through this terrible
time. All asked me to implore the House of Commons not to do
this great wrong to General Dyer. One account says : :

“The children had po milk, but only bully beef, and there
weve no sanitary convéniences in the fort. 'We had a terrible time,
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recalling the days of Mutiny which was a very, very bad time
for Englishwomen and children.” eAnother account :

“I was 16 days in the Amwritsar Fort in April, 1919, in conse-
quence of the deplorable riots twhich took place, and I wish to do
my part in strongly protesting against the injustice being done to
General Dyer, who, 1 believe, did his duty and saved us from
unepeakable horrors. 1 have lived in India longer even than Miss
Sherwood, and love India’s people very dearly, but in such crises
only those on the spot can judge asto what action to take, and
they, according to British tradition, should be justly treated™

What was the condition of affairs hefore General Dyer struck
_ his blow—this inevitable aud necessary blow on 13th April? One
would imagine, from all that is being eaid, that General Dyer, a
blood-thirsty English officer, found this gathering perfectly peaceful
on the Jalliauwala Bagh, and had 'said. '‘“We must destroy this
erowd, we must fire merely for the love of firing.” The whole of
Northern India was in what amounted to revolt and rebellion in
the early part of April, 1919. From Caleutta to Peshawar and
from Lahore to Bombay there were sporadic revolts and riots all
over the country.

Colonel Wedgwood : Why? what wore the causes ?

Sir W. Joynson Hicks: I am not going into the causes.
What we bave got to face are facts with which General Dyer
had to deal, the knowledge that was within General Dyer’s brain
when he was ecalled upon by the Civil Authorities to take a hand
in this disposal. I kunow there are political canses. [ kunow there
are political troubles in Indin, and there will be far worse political
trouble in India in the near future.

Colonel Wedgwood : After they hayve read your speech !

Sir W. Joynson Hicks: I am trying merely to give tothe
Committee what | Lelieve to be the tacts of the case. [ want hon.
Members to realise that General Dyer kuew that he had charge of
this whole district. In Lahore the capital, there had been riots. I want
to refer to those, because 1 notice in the Times newspaper this morn-
ing a leading article pleading for moderation, and asking why it
was not possible to adopt the same methods at Amritsar as had been
used in that quelling of the mob at Lahore on April 1910 and ’12.
If the leader writer in the Times had read the evidence given before
the Commission, he would have seen that lieut. Colonel Johnson who
was in charge at Lahore, gave evideuce before the Commission in which
he said that he cousidered the quieting of Lahore was due 60 per cent.
to the action of General Dyer at Amritsar. The action at Amritsar
of General Dyer spread all through the Punjab and particularly
quieted the town of Lahore. In Amritsar itself when these riots
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broke eut they were direstly anti-British and snti<Christian. The
orowd attacked one of -the Eaglish banks and murdered the
English manager, and the English assistant they beat to death.
They piled up the furniture ami set fire to the whole placs,
Then they went to the Alliance Bank and murdered the
Manager. Afterwards they visited both the Town Hall and the Post
Office and set fire to them. I brought back photographs of these
places given to me by the Lieut. Governor of the Punjab, and they
showed these burned buildings where the bank managers were
murdered, and building aiter building oocupied by English residents
and Christians were burnt.

The telegram system was attacked and the railways, and where-
ever they could get hold of an English gaard on the railway he was
beaten to death. They went to an army hospital to get hold of
another lady missionary and she only escaped through the kindness
and loyalty of her Indian friends. They went to Indian ohristian
church and burned that. The Religious tract Society’s Depot was
burned, and they tried to get hold of the Church Missionary Society
Girl’'s School. The state of things there on the 10th and 11th of
April did amount to a rebellion. The difference between myself and
the Secretary of State for War is, whether there was a rebellion or
not? If there was no rebellion but merely a local riot, then General
Dyer could be rightly convicted of inbumanity and oruelty, but if
there was a rebellion, as I submit there was, then General Dyer's
action was justified. It was a rebellion which might have led to
almost anything, in fact, it was an open rebellion.

It is not a question in these circumstances as to how far General
Dyer should have gone, because he was at a war with a section
of the people of India, and a section of the people of India were at
war with general Dyer. The right hon. Gentleman, the Member for
Paisley (Mr. Asquith) said that nothing happened between the 10th,
and the 13th of April. At that time the whole city was in the
hande of the military, soldiers had to be poured in, and the reason
why General Dyer had only a few troops was because the troops were
guarding every available place, protecting the European population,
The whole city was picketed during the 11th and 12th of April. It
was all one continuous operation, and not merely incidental firing on
the part of General Dyer’s force, The native populace had every
possible warning. Duoring the riot the military had to shoot in
Awritsar, and some men were killed, and at their funeral on the
10th the following notice was issued.

“The troops have orders to restore order in Amritsar and to
use all fores necessary. No gatherings nor prooession of any sort will
be allowed. All gatherings will be fired on. Any persons lesving

66



514 HOUSE OF COMMONS [8 yuLy

the city in groups of more than four will be fired on. Respectable
persons should keep indoors.” ¢On the night of the 11th of April
General Dyer arrived, and on the 12th he marched round the city
with as large a show of force as possible. As he marched the inhabi-
tauts were insolent and spat on the ground as the troops passed, and
amid all thie provocation General Dyer did nothing to them, and
the most extreme opponent of General Dyer could not find fault with
him up to this point. He did his best not to take the extreme
measures on the 12th which be was forced to take on the 13th,
One or two extracts from the reports of the Committee gvhich
investigated the disturbaunces in the Punjab will show exactly what
took place on the 13th when the following proclamation was issued :

“’Phe inhabitants of Amritsar are hereby warned that if they
will canse damage to any property or will commit any act of violence
in the euvirons of Amritsar, 1t will be taken for granted that such
acls are due to incilement in Amritsar city, and offenders will be
punished according to Military Law. All meetings and gatherings
are herehy prohibited, and will be dispersed at once under Military
Law.”

On the 12th instant my right hon. Friend said that nothing
happened, hut a force had to be sent out to bring in two ladies, and
during the day the tclegraph wires were cut between Chheharta and
Amritsar, between Khasa aud Gurusar, and between Khass and
Chhoharta.  In spite of all that happeued on the 10th, in spite of
all the firing that took place, the rebels were quietly taking means
to isolate Awmritsar and propare themselves for anything that might
talke place on the following day. On the 13th General Dyer went
round Amritsar, and at 19 places he colled a halt, and by souunding
a drom he sumwoned the people and at those 19 places he read out
another proclamation which was drawn up in English and in the
vernacnlar as follows :

“It is hereby proolaimed to all to whom it may concern that
no person residing in the city is permitted or allowed to leave the city
in his own or hired rouveyance or on foot without a pass. No person
residing in the Amritsar ciry is permitted to loave his kouse after
8. Any persons found in the city after 8 are liable to be shot. No
procession of any kind is perngitted to parade .the streets in the city or
any part of the city, or ontside of it, at any time. Any such prooes-
sions or any gathering of four men will be looked upon and treated
as unlawiul assembly and dispersed by force of arms, if necessary.”

It is idle to say that these proclamations were not known
to the whole of the population. I have spoken with men on the
spot who were on the police force at the time, both Native and
English ; and not only these, but the Indian official as well in
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Amritsar, supported General Dyer to the utmost in the action he was
taking, and none of them will dispute that the inhabitants of that
city knew of this proclamation and knew of the danger they would
be subject to. In spite of those praglamations word was brought to
General Dyer that this orowd was assembling in the Jallianwala
Bagh. It is true that it was impossible for more than a few troops to
get through the narrow opening into this place at the same -time,
but the right hon. Gentleman is not correct when he said the crowd
could not get out at the other end becsuse they could get out the
garden and over the walls. There was only one entrance for
the trops, and General Dyer and his troops came in at this narrow
entrance. He knew that the telegraph wires had boen cut and that
Amritsar was isolated, He knew that there was a crowd being
addressed by an agitator, the same agitator who was condemnod
for his connection with the muyrders on the 10th, but who, I regret
to say, was pardoned by the India Government. He was haran-
guing the mob and doing his best to excite them. Genersl Dyer
had only 50 men armed with rifies and about 40 with cutlasses or
knives. What would this House have said if he had waited and
allowed the crowd to charge him? The mere force of numbers and
the merg impact of the crowd would have swept General Dyer and
his force absolutely out of existonce if they had attacked him. The
Europeans were behind General Dyer, and 1 am suro hon. Members
would bave coudemned him aud rightly condemned him it he hud
allowed himself to be overwhelmed by that mob.

It is not for me to say what some of my hon. Friends would
have done, but it is not for hon. Members who do mnot know the
facts to say that they would have acted dilferently. 1 do not know
any man who would say that with such respousibility upon his
shoulders, and with the knowledge that Gencral Dyer bad, ha would
have dared to have abstained from firingin the way he did  Itis
said that General Dyer’s force fired without any cessation, hut if
you look at the report of the Brigide-Mijor of his lorces who has
since died, it will be seen that he says :

“We began to fire upon the crowd, which broke into twg
bodies. Thiugs were getting very serious indeed, aud looked as if
they were going to rush, Fire was ordered first on one lumyp of
crowd which looked the most menacing aud theu on the other.”

Those are the words of this officer who was merely making
his formal report, and he says that the crowd looked as if they were
going to rush them. What has happened since! Was General
Dyeor assailed by the people of the Punjab for the action he took §
Certainly not. They afterwards came to him in their thovsards
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and thanked him for what he had done. They thanked  him for
the action he had taken. He way, made a Sikh—one of the highest
honours given to men. He was employed by the Government to
march round the whole distriot, and pacify it—this blood-thiraty
man who is said to have wantonly shot down so many of . their
fellow country-men, was the man who was selected to do his best
in friendly conversation with them. I assert that General Dyer
was and is to-day beloved of the Sikh Nation. I should like to say
one word with regard to the speech of the Seeratary for War. Ho
made great play with the statement that the orowd were not
armed with lethal weapons. Any one acquainted with condftions
in India would bave known it was impossible under the Arms Aot
for them to be armed with guns. Nevertheless, they imported
into Amritsar hundreds of thousands of ironshod bamboo canes
which they proposed to use. It was, suggested by the right hon.
Gentleman that if the object of General Dyer was to disperse the
crowd, bis action was uncalled for and unnecessary. I say, on the
other hand, if it was to slop or to put an end to rebellion, then he
was entitled to judge of what was to be done in military fashion,

The hon. Gentleman said that nobody with any reputation in
India had suggested the punishment of Gemeral Dyer or other
officials concerned. IIas he seen the report of a meetiug which
took place in the Kingsway Hall, London, on the 3rd June? It
was attended by gentlemen who are supporting my right hon.
Friend to-day. 1t was addressed by an hon. Member of the
Legislative Council—the Hon. Mr. Patel. May 1 here utter a
word of warning to the hon. and gallant Member for Newcastle—
under-Lyme (Col Wedgwood) in this connection. I happened to be
in the I.egislative Council at Delbi when the Hon. Mr. Patel was
making a speech not quite so bad perhaps, but one in which he
quoted a spoech of the hon. and gallant Gentleman, and then
turned round and said, ‘“These are the noble words of a noble man.”
After that 1 wont out. This is what Mr. Patel said at the meeting
in London the otber day.

“When the Indian people are informed that the Government
bave the fullest confidence in Lord Chelmsford aud a high appreci-
ation of Sir M. O’Dwyer’'s energy, do you suppose they wil] be
impressed by Mr, Montagu’s platonic condemnation of some of the
excesses under Martial Law ¢ No; they will judge you by your
deeds, not by your words, and if you have confidence in Lord
Chelmsford, they will bave no confidence in you. Lord Chelmsiord
must go. Itis a fresh insult and outrage to Indian sentiment

that the Government shculd express their confidence in such a
Viceroy.” '
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There was another speech made by a Mr. Horniman, who was -
expelled or deported from Indis, and it was almost equally as bad.
[ will refer to only one further speech, and that was delivered by an
Indian lady, Mrs. Naidu, who gsywe a description of alleged action
of our troops at Amritsar. If hon. Members really believe in the
increasing goodwill of certain seotions of the people of India, 1
want them to realise what this woman said and said in the presence
of two Englisk Members of Parliament—the hon. Member for
Nawcutlanfhin,]or Barnes) and the hon, Member for Glasgow (Mr.
Neil Maclean) on the 3rd June 1920 at the Kingaway Hall. Mrs.
Naid® said :

“"Women, whose faces had never been touched by the eurious
sun or the moon, were dragged into the market place. My siaters
ware stripped naked ; they were flogged ; they were outraged ;
and yet you dare talk of the auction of souls.”

Neither of the two bon. Members bounded up in his seat as I
should have expected any English Member of Parliament would have
done. One of them in fact, the hon. Member for Newcastle, said :

““We have just listened to a very, very wonderful spsech which
had that greatest power a speech can ever have, to get past the head
to the heart, and that is whero it arrived.”

Immediately, I got that report I wrote to General Dyer and
Sir M. O’'Dwyer, and 1 am authorised by those two gentlemen to
say in this House of Commons that that statement, as far as their
knowledge goes, and 1 think thoir knowlenge is conelusive in the
inatter, is absolutely and totally untrae. Let English Members realise
that that is the kind of incitement to hostilily to our rule in India
which is indulged in by extreme sections of the Iudian Commu-
nity, This was going on last year, and it is going on to-day. When
[ was at Peshawar there was a placard posted up in that eity, which
itself"is too liable to disorder and erime, calling upon the Indians to
rise and destroy the British forces. 1t said :

“Your hearts will soon bo soothed by the entire annihilation
of British Imperialism and the completo destruction of these enemies
of humanity.”

This placard was posted up iu Peshawar in Marech, 1920, and
it goes on :

“Active resistance will crush the viper’s head. Burn their
offices, mutilate their railways and telegraphs, induce the Police
and Army to work with you and slay these dogs of Bntmn every-
where you find them.”

1 want to mako an appeal to this Committee on behalf of the
EBuglishmen and Englishwomen in the Civil Service, and in the
Army, who are upholding our flag there under very great difficulties,
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We hear a great deal of the raspons;blht.les of Empire, but what
is too often referred to is the l‘espol]ﬂlblhty to the native races
on the part of the Government. There i is, however, a responsibility
also to the Europeans. You sgnd these men out, you allow their
women and children to go out there to live in scattered areas,
gpread all over the country—often miles and miles away from any
belp, and they are only enabled to live and to rule by the know-
ledge of the fact that there is in India a British Army on which
they can rely in the last resort. 1 appeal to this Committee, not
merely on behalf of them, but on behali also of the soldiers in
India, who feel strongly with regard to the action which the &rmy
Council has taken into the case of General Dyer. They feel that
when the next riot takes place they may be called upon in similar
circumstances t0 come to a somewhat similar decision. Are you
going to tell them that this House pf Commons has supported the
action of the Army Council in the case of General Dyer, and are
you going to tell them also that in the future in any action they
may take they will not have the support of Great Britain ! We must
trust the men on the spot. We send out our best men to India
to the Civil Service and to the Army, and we have to trust them
not once or twice, but at all times.

Mr. Bennett: A meeting took place in this city not many
weeks ago attended mainly by Englishmen whose lives have been
spent largely in India. As roported to me, the speech of the Chair-
man of that meeting may be summarised in these words: '‘We
English bhave got to live with the natives, and the best we can do
is to get on good terms with them, and say as little as we can about
these disturbances.” With part of that sentiment I cordially agree.
We have to puraue a policy of moderation. There are obstacles in
the way of that policy and in the way of a good understanding be-
tween the two races. Some of them are raised by hon. Members
opposite, some by hon. Members around me. So far as hon. Mem-
bers opposite are councerned, 1 deprecate the agitation—premature
and purely fictitious—on this question which they have carried
on. The meetings that have been held have been artificial in
character. 1 have a letter from Mr, Horuiman, who has been
referred to to-day, ajournalist who was expelled, and, iu my opi-
nion, properly expelled, from Bombay. In that letter he writes to
& newspaper in Bombay to the effect that he is “working the press
in t,hia country for all that is worth.” He goes on further to
say ‘'you may trust me to keep the Press of England up to
the mark.”

That discounts a great deal of what we read in the English
Papers. On the other band, we have got a mischievous Press in
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England poisoning the wells against the Secretary for India. 1 think
we have seen some co-operation inthat unworthy purpose in some
of the questions which have been putin this House during the last
few days. The great obstacles to & friendly understanding, which
is profoundly to be deferred therefore, come from two sides. Two
eminent Members of the legal profession, one representing the
higher and the other the less high braach of the profession, have
shown what I may call the forensic astuteness in conocentrating the
discussion to-day upon the case of General Dyer. That made an
appesl to our fair-mindedness; they put before us the case of an
bonourable officer, who has served his country for 34 years, and
who, they think, has not had justice. 1 have read fully the state-
ment which General Dyer laid before the Army Council, and have
given it my best coneideration, and I am satisfied that there is
every warrant for the decisfon which has been come to in regard
to him. I notice one thing that was not known to me before—namely,
that General Dyer was for some years on the staff as instructor in
Military Law. That rather disturbs me. I want to know how many
officers of the Indian Army have received the benefit of his teaching
in military law, and how many of them have imbibed the peculiar
principles to which he has given expression. For instance, is it
gonerally believed, amongst the officers of the Indian Army, that,
in cases of trouble it matters little whether there is to be excess of
shooting or not! He says excess does not concern him, “1 was
not coucerned with excess,” I think he says, “becauso I had in view
the effect which it was necessary to produce upon the public feeling
in the Punjab.”

I am not going further into the question of General Dyer. I want
to take the discussion away from General Dyer altogether for the
time= being, aud to call the attention of the committee to the exer-
cise of Martial Law in the Punjab at this time, the conditions under
which Martial Law was exercised and the lessons to be derived from
it. Wae shall waste our time if we simply stand here condemning
or exonerating particular individuals. We want to find what hap-
pened, and to guard in the future against the consequences of the
errors that have been made. I will ask hon, Members to study care-
fully the evidence given by a number of the officers who were appoint-
od as Area Military Officers to carry out Martial Law, after the control
had been handed over by the civil authority. The committee recog-
nised, of course, the serious dangers which follow f the institu-
tion of Martial Law, The ordinary rules of evidence ate suspended,
but what is worst of all is that a number of men are put in positions
of judicial authority who necessarily have no experience of exer-
cising such authority and are utterly incapable of doing so properly.
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nnﬁal Law may be a matter of military necessity. Owing to

ure of ocircumatances it may be inevitable, bat it is a thing to
g avoided so far a8 it possibly can be. I want the committee to
endeavour to got some grasp of the conditions under which Martial
Law was carried out, and 'of the kind of men who ware oscupied
in carrying it out. I wish to make no personal attacks on them,
and 1 shall as far a8 possible avoid naming any of these officsrs, but
the errors of their administration and their want of judgment and,
at times, even of common-sense. must be made known. Theré was
s young officer— I fancy he must have been a very young goldier
indeed—who inveuted a number of minor punishments. These
punishments have been called “freak punisbments” and 1 think that
is a terin which sufficiently does justice to them. He invented
skipping as 8 means of minor punishment—very minor, 1 think we
must say. In other case, finding ‘that a culprit before him was
given to poetry, he ordered to him to write an ode in his honour, He
also ordered that one after another of the persons who came befare
him should touch the grounds with their foreheads. He justified
himself for that by saying that it was a common thing, and he
belioved it was done all over India. If thut is so, | hope the Govern:
ment of India have had their attention directed to it, and we should
like to have an assurance that no longer are men humiliated by
being made to touch the ground with their foreheads.

We get more serious things than this. A military officer exer-
cising authority under martial law bad to deal with a case in which
martial law notices had been stripped from the wall of a school.
He had no evidenco as to who was guilty of this irregunlarity, but
he thought he could find out, or, at any rate, that he could adminis-
ter justice, by ordering that some of the bigger in the school should
be picked out and whipp.d. His own admission befaore the Com-
mittee was, “They were not necusaamly gull!ay but it was their mis-
fortune.,” Then he was asked, “Were warnings against defacement
of notices written or oral 7 I do not remember,” he said, “but what
does it mattert?’ Questions of life or death may come before these
tribunals, and some importance must be attached to the regularity of
the procedure and when an officer gives an answer indicating that
he does not care whether an order is written or oral, it is a ,clsar
indication of the general prevalance of slipshod procedare in these
oourts, Again, and I think this is still more serious, we read that at
Lahore a whipping triangle was set up before the acoused persons were
tried, The¥ Beems to be an anticipation of eventa acarcely consistent
with a judiefal attitude of mind. Worse utill, also at Luhom, gallows
were erected before the court opened. There again, is the sinistar
anticipation of the issue which, I think, is discreditable to all who are
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associated with it. If we want a historioc parallel to that, we should
find it in the oase of-the Duc d’Egghien, whom Napoleon had tried
at Viocennes, and for whom a grave was dug bafore the trisl began.
I put this case of the erection of a gallows befors the opening of
the court on a par with that sinister episode in the procedure of
Napoleon. In another case, a Deputy Commissioner in Gujranwalla
caused the leaders, or those who were believed to be the leaders of-
the popular party, to be handcuffed and chained, marched throvgh
the streets to the station, and sent to Lahore in a goods truck,
The same official arrested Gover Singh, aged 60, as a hostage, be-
oause® his three sons were missing. An order was passed confisca-
ting his property, and a warning was issued that any one attemp-
ting to reap his crops would be shot.

These are matters to which hon, Members here attach no
importance. They concentrate the whole of their thought and
care upon vindicating General Dyer, and proving that he has been
very badly treated. I think thay would spend their tima a little
more usefully, and would be more fully performing their duties
in regard to India, if they would inquire into the methods by which
martial law was administered at that time. I think we ought,
in following these proceedings, to note tha mentality of the men
who were engaged in thom. What can you say of the mentality
of & man who, over and over agaiu, will tell you thut the people
of the Punjab like martial law ? We have heard of eels getting used
to be skinned, but when it is sanid that the people of a provinee
like martial law, it only shows what extraordinary persons wers
put in charge of the administration of martial law at that time,
" People liked my administration.” “People liked martial law,
especially the masses.” Another officer who had not been salaamed
by some children—the pupils of a school—gave orders that the
whol® of the boys in that school should for a week be made to
come and salute him at his office, and should, in addition, salute
the Uuion Jack.# If that officer had set himself to devise means
by which the children of that town could be made as long as they
lived to hate the Union Jack and the people who ruled under it,
he could not have adopted a more efficacious procedure. Because
the pupils in one group of colleges were suspected of tearing down
s martial law notice, the whole of the students—a thousand all
told—were made for a whole week to march 16 miles a day to
the military headquarters. That is the rising generation in India.
Those are the students, the class of people who in I for instanece,
took a prominent part in the risorgimento. t gaucherie,
what stupidity there must be amongst this shool of dfficers in the
Puvjsb, who will take these men and make them hate England

66
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and English officers! We have beard a great deal abont General
Dyer, and the dangers that wyould have arisen if he had not besn
as stern as he was, but no one in this Committes, so iar, has seemed
to contemplate the danger to British rule that follows prooeedings
of this kind. 1 maintain that those who uphold this procedure,
or who ignore it, and concentrate their attention in a wrong fashion
on the problem, are doing every harm to British rule, The procee-
dings [ am desoribing do not stand alone. There is a whole group
of bluanders and appressions and hardships of this kind which seem
to me to provide material for a hymn of bate against England,
and nothing short of it. | aek hon, Members to study that aspect
of the question, and not to conocentrate upon General Dyer, 1
will give another instance. We have heard—reference was made
to it in the speech of Secretary of State—of a partioular officer
who arrested a wedding party and had them fogged because they
were i excess of the number allowed to pass in the streets. The
officer said this whipping of the wedding party was the only re-
grottable incident that ooccurred in his jurisdiction under martial
law. He must have bad demnse mind and a strange perception ;
because it was this officer who had been responsible for this
marching backwards and forwards of studeuts and for a number
of other acts of oppressions which were only too characteristic of the
reign of martial law in that part of country.

We have had in the Report of the Commission an exoneration
of the Government of Sir M. O’'Dwyer from the charge that he had
exercised undue pressure in recruiting and the loan campaign, As to
recruiting, it is fair to Sir M. O’Dwyer to recognise that there was
a «quots which the various administrations were expected to work up
to in their recruiting opurations, and it is also fair to say that when
these were brought to notice measures were taken to prevent their
repotition, and it is also fair to say that one witness before the
commission said that thoss who were guilty of exarcising pressure
in vecruiting wers native offirials of some “gfliuding. As to the
loan operations, [ do not accept the finding of the Commission
in regard to that, because I have here a circular which was issued
in the Panjab admiuistrution giving instructions as to the way
in which encouragement was to be given to the loan, and this
passage occurs ;

“"Deputy Commissioners will find much assistance in estimating
the vontributions that they ought to get from various places by
going o the e Tax Officer and getting the Income Tax Retarna,
which will furnish a fairly reliable index to the financial conditions
of individuels who are expected to help the losn.”

In India, as 1 understand, Income Tasx operations are as confl-
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dentisl ss they are in thia country, and we can realize the possibili-
ties at all avents of a somewhat opgressive officialism if we contem-
plate the officers of the Government in oharge of Loan operations
going &0 the Income Tax Officer, and asked him to give a return
of the inoomes of this or that individual. I cannot, in view of
that cirenlar, join in the acquittal of the Punjab Government of
the charge of baving exercised undue pressure in some, at all
events, of their operations,

We have had a:;good deal said to-day as to the Punjab having
been gavod by the operations of General Dyer. What evidence
have we of that ! What inductive prooess based upon known facte
have we which leads legitimately to the conclusion that s great ris-
ing, equal to that of the Mutiny of 1857, was imminent, and that
these severe measures bad to be taken to prevent it ¥ The Punjab
knows something of conspiracy as Bengal knows a good deasl of
conspiracy . We had a conspiracy seven or eight years ago and an-
other of the same kind ocourred a little later. There was organised
dacoity carried out with the object of seizing arms and the money
with which to buy arms. It was accompanied by attempts to currupt
the pative army, by attacks upor the regimental armouries, and
attempts to get arms from them, and by the mauufaeture of bombs,
and I believe classes were opened to teach what may be called politi-
cal,chemistry—the manufacture of bombs, But there is absolutely
no indication of the existence of any preparations of that kind
duriog the troubles in the Punjab. We have evidence, too, whioh
will not be questioned, as to the condition of the villages and of
many towns even after these troubles had taken place. Wae have
the statement of General Benyon that he had gone through all the
villages in the neighbourhood and that he found the villagers were
quiet and willing to co-operate with bim in watching the railway
lines.” On page after page there is evidonce that in the rural dis-
triots the people were as a whole auiet, and orderly and well-bebaved,
Not only so, but | #isve avery reason to helieve that the Goverument
of the Punjab, even at the worst time, had confidencc iu two things,
They trusted the Army, and their trust was fuly justified. The
Army was absolutely loyal during the whole of the proceedings.
They alse trusted the village populations. On the whols, they were
quiet and orderly, and there were 1o sigus, in large areas of the
rural- part of the Puniab, of any teudency towards insurrvection.
Therefors, I hold that this purely hypothetical danger, to which
Genera! Dyer points as his excuse for an act of grossand exceseive
poverity, did not exist. 1 bave as much reason to say there was no
danger as hon. Members:oppogite bave to say that there was, and
i any case the findings of the Committee is with me. The Commit. -
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tee had*muoh fuller opportunities for inquiring into the facts. The
Committee came to the conclugion that there was no evidence
of a widespread conspiracy. We had confirmation of that in
Delhi. Immediately after the Afghan invasion a meeting of 40,000
people was held in Dalhi at which the conduct of the Amir was
condemned, and the Deputy-Commissioner of Delhi states his
opinion that meeting was sincere. That is a fact which dis-
oourages beliel in anything like a widespread movement towards
conspiracy.

We have beard a great deal about General Dyer, but I have not
heard one word from those who defended him as to the 300, 000,
000 millious of people who live in India, and what they think. The
most remarkable thinvg to me has been that hou, Members have
taken up the interests of one individual, and have concentrated
all their thoughts on one individual, but have turned an absolutely
bliud eye to what the people of India thiuk. That is not a reason-
able way of dealing with a great question of this kind. We have
to live with these people, and we have to be ou close terms with
them that we have heen before, and they will have some reason
to complain il they read this Debate and do not find one word ae
to what the people of India think of these happenings. It is no
sign of real interest in Indin when a number of hon. Members
become excited, as they did this aftarnoon, over the interests of an
individual, aud are so absolutely inditferent to the bearings of our
discussion upon the people of Iudia. We have been told that
Indin was conquered by the sword aud is beiug held by the sword.
That doctrine is absolutely repudiated by every historical authority
of any importance. We began as a trading nation. We did not
go a8 a military nation, und we should have accomplished nothing
in ludis but for the co-oneration of lndian agents. Why should we
vaunt this doctrine of holding by the sword in the face of a people
whom we want to make a free people, whose liberties we
ure enlarging 7 During the enquiry we had the Commandant of
4 regiment stativg that we can influence the Asiatic only
by force. That is a view which is at the back of all these
happenings and the operation of Martial Law. There has besn an
idea that the wvative of India is an inferior person who has
to be held in restraiut by coercion. The Secratary of State for
India seems to huave arcused ths anger of cortain hon, Members
by a speech which I regard as 3 dignified and noble vindication
of the liberal policy which has besu pursued in India. What hon.
Members have seen to justify them in speaking of it as an appeal
to racial prejudice 1 do not know. The appenl to racial prejudice
hus come from their side. There is uno warraut for the condem-
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nation which has been passed upon a speech which is worthy -
of the subject and worthy of the occasion. Recently, we have
had an opportunity of refreshing our memories on some of the
achievements and speeches of they Earl of Beaconsfield. I came
across a passage in which he reminded the people of this country
that we were proud of our Empire, and the e¢hief reason for being
proud of it was that it had been based on sympathy as well us on
force. Let us never forget that. Unless we get the sympathy
and good-will of the people of India our task is ended or will be
ended in a short time. We cannot contemplate a future in which
the formal condition of things in India is one of antagonism
between the people and the Government. If we are to con*tinue
the Dyer policy, the result must necessarily be no progress in
India and no improvement in the relations between the people of
India and the Government. The other day I had a lettor from
India, in which the writer—an Englishman who had lived the better
part of his life there, and in whose judgment 1 place the most
absolute confidence—said ; “Dyer is the greatest asset that the
extremists in India have got.” No truer word bas been contributed
to this discussion. Dyerism will be an enormous help to those
who are trying to oust the British (Government from its place in
India, and hon. Members who have been censuring the Secretary
of State for India for the generous and sympathetic words in
which he spoke of the people of India ought to realise that we
reached a point at which most critical issues have to be decided.
We bave to ask ourselves whether we are to be on terms of irieud-
ship with the people of India or whether we are to go on dealing
with them in a way in which so many ofticers have dealt with them,
Those who have looked tuo lightly aud with approval iu too many
cases upon tha action of Genersl Dyer, have a scale of value of their
own*of human life, in which they place the ludian below the
Buropean. "This is not a political question, but a question of human
values, and uutil we get rid of that idea and recognise the sacredness
of Kuropean life, we shall be svspected by the people of lndia, our
actions will be unfavourably coloured, and cur policy in that country
will be a failure,

I appeal to those hon. Members on the other side of the House
who bave put themselves in wntagonism to the policy of the Govern-
ment to realise that it is they and not those who are supporting the
Secretary of State, who will be responsible if in the time to come we
should ever lose India. God grant that the conneotion between this
country and India may long continue, that it may never cease, that
India being u self-governing country, will at the same time remain
an integral part of the Britith Commonwenlth, But at the same time
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we haye to make it worth the while of the people of India to retsin
their.place in that Commonwealth, and if they sare to.be treated as
serfs, to be treated as too many of them were treated in those
troublous times, the day of our rule will come to an end. I hope that
hon. Members on that side whe concentrate so much on the indivi-
dual aspeoct of this case will' realise its political importance and will
replise that one at all events of the lessons which we have
derived from this experience is that we must never again allow the
military authorities to get out of touch with the ecivil authorities.
Let hon. Members, if they want to see how things should be done,
turn from Amritear to Ahmedabad in the Bombay Presidency’and
seo the sucoess of an entirely different method. There the eivil
asuthority never lost touch with the military authority. The result
was that within forty-eight hours the military authority was enabled
to.withdrw ite orders suspending sassemblages, and the abnormal
condition of things was brought to an end. The real lessons which
tho Government have to learn is to follow the example of
Abhmedabad and never again allow the military authorities
to get into such entire detachment from the civil authority as
it was allowed to do at Amritear, with consequonces of the most
deplorable kind.

Brigadier-General Surtees urged hon. members to remember
the effeot that speeches and decisions in that House would have
upon natives in all parts of the Empire. If British prestige were
destroyed the Empire would collapse. In 1865 Governor Eyer
saved the Huropean inhabitants of Jamaics by prompt and
strong action, for which he was persecuted as Ceneral Dyer had
been. (Geners] Dyer had a similar idea in his mind. Kuropeans
on the spot were the best judges of the situation. “We ocould not
surrender India even if we wished to do ro, vet if a plebiscite
were taken to-morrow as to who should rule India, the result
would be against us. If we did not hold Indi:. by moral suation
we must hold it b force, possibly thinly veiled, bui un-
doubtedly by force.” He belioved that General Dyer, by his action
saved the Emrira from serious dsuger. As Mr. Palmer had rightly
said they had a most deplorable :»eech tbat day from the Secretary
of Stafe for India which would go out to our great Dependency
as an encouragement to lawlessness and those forces of disorder
which every sa:e and patriotic Englishman was anxious to see laid
to rest in Indis. His attitude would feed the flames of antagonism
againat him in a manner which, in his more reserved moments, he
would sincerely regret. .

Mr, Palmer: 1 think we me to be congratulated that dpring
this dinter hour some one of more sober thoughts has addressed
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himeeli to this tremendous question. Every one will fes] that thay
are face to [ace with a arma, as for a8 India is odonoerned. I ima-
gine there is net 8 man in this House who does not realise that we
hold in trust a great aud mighty papulation in India, and that it is
our duty to treat them with generosity and with justice. This
debate has revealed that, while the vast body of the population
of ludia are loyal subjecta of the Crown, theras is in Indis, ag'in
other parts of the world, a vast organisation determined to bring
down the strength and might of the British Empire. It was this
dmtmgumhed general who was called upon at & moment of great
emergency to settle for himself how he should deal with a crisis.
No one who has read the evidence can fail to realise that through-
out the Punjab and other parts of India there was a concerted
attempt at revolution. Genersl Beynon can be yuoted in favour
of Ganeral Dyer—

“The strong measures takau by General Dyer st Amritsar had
a far-reaching effect and prevented any further trouble in the Lower
Division Area.”

We have H8d to-day a most deplorable spesch from the Secre-
tary of State for India, a speech which, 1 think, will go out to India
as an encouragement to disloyalists and those forces of disorder
which every sane and patriotic Xnglisbman is anxious to see laid
at rest. We know that during the War India provided some of
the most gallant of our troops. It is not f{air to suggest there are
people hers who believe that the great and loyal Indian population
ouly to be kept down and repressed, and that we will not treat
them as oitizens of the Empire. One thing that has impresssed me
very much was this—that while Genersl Dyer, able to visualise
what was happening, reslising the atmosphere in which he was
movjng, did his duty, severely, yes, but for the sake of the British
Empire and for tho sake of the people of Indis, a right hon. Gentlé-
man sitting in oriental aloofness in Whitehall, a year aftor, and
6000 miles away, is pleased to measure the less or more of the
severity applied by that gallant soldier. They actually passed strie-
tures upoun other gallaut officers who did not exercise sufficient severity
in the circumstances in" which they were placed. On the one side
you have the right hon. Gentleman in this House, far away from
the scene, smug and safe here, censuring this gallant officer for the
extra severity which, in his particular judgment, he thought it right
to display, sud we have ou the othe: side sctuslly criticism, if not
censure, of other gallant officers, because they were not sufficiantly
severe in putting down sporadic rmnga Let me quote, i omse
case with regard to Delhi— .

“Firing continued no longer than was npecessary to avhieve the
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legitimate object of restoring order and preventing a disastrous
outbreak of violence’

- That is a commendatory statement. Here is another one in
regard to Abmedabad—''The fqrce used against the rioters was
certainly not excessive. If greater force could have been applied at
an early stage the commission of an atrocious murder and much
destruction of property might have been prevented.”

Here is another in regard to Gujranwala.

“In failing to order the police to fire upon and so disperse the
mob surrounding the burning Post Office, the Acting Deputy Commis-
sioner appears to us to have committed an error. If efféoctive
measures had then been taken to disperae the mob and restore order,
the later incidents of the day might have been avoided.”

It passes ones comprehension to understand the position, If an
officer in the exercise of his discretion uses a little more or less
severity acoording to the measure of the Secretary of State for India,
he is broken on the wheel—mno trial, no possibility of defending
himself, and even his statement to the Army Council is care-
fully put out after we have had an announ®ment that he is
condemned. That announcement went out last night to the world,
and I came here at 8 o’clock this morning to get hold of General
Dyer’s statement. A more manly and splendidly frank and open state-
ment | have never read. Here we bave the right hon. Gentleman,
the Secretary for War, sitting in his oriental aloofness in Whitehall,
denouncing General Dyer for what he did, and we have in the
Huuter Commission Report criticisms of other officers for failing to
take effective measures immediately to put down disturbances. The
right hon. Gentlemau, the Secretary for India, made a deplorable
speech. It will go out to Iudia, to the seething masses there,
who are ready for trouble aud revolution, that there are large
masses of opinion in this country who think that the Indian’is to
be down-trodden. That is not so. The right hon, Gentleman has
done a gteat thing to 1udia in the great measure of freedom and reiorm
that he has brought about. That measure of freedom was passed
by the House of Commons and by the very men whose opinions he
bas denounced to-day. Instead of coming down to this House to-day
with a statesman-like and reasouable speech he fed the flames of
antagonism in & manper which I feel sure in his more ressrved
moments he will sincerely regret. An bhon. Member said just now
that no regard had been given to Indian opinion and yet we know
that a vast mass of sober patriotic Indian opinion was with General
Dyer and applauded him for the splendid severity of his action before
the right hon. Gentleman and the Government gave way to the
clamour of revolution, aud six months after these events, eset upa
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committee, I have had sotne letters from people in India who waye
concerned .in these tremendous %nd troublesome days. Aun hon.
Gentleman referred in terms of praise to what happened in Ahme-
dabad. I have a letter here from a Mdy in which she says :—

“I 'was in Ahmedabad at the time of the Amritsar riots,
when we experienced riots of similar nature, and [ have not the
least hesitation in saying that the prompt action taken by General
Dyer in the Punjab saved our lives, The British police-sergeant
who was the very. first victim in Ahmedabad, had his hands out
off, and he was then hacked to pieces. At a small station, a loyal
native who gave the order to fire on the mob, was tied to a chair
with the official records piled around him, and they then poured
kerosene oil on him, thus burping him alive. [ expeet you know
that they burned down most of the other Government buildings,
but although the guard on the Bombay Bank fired on them the
building was left untouched owing to the fact that the seourities
of the natives were in tho bank. Wae poople are powerless to help
the man who, by a great decision made in a few minutes, saved
us all irom a fate too horrible to thiuk of.”

That is the testimony of a woman who wasin India at the
time. [ have had many other letters from those who were with
General Dyer. One man writes :

“I have had the pleasure of serving under this General, and
a better or kind hearted man you could not wish to meet. I
went all through the Amritsar and Lahore riots with the motor
transport section, and cousequently saw a lot of events that happen-
ed ; and only those that were iu those riots could realise fully the
dauger it meant to the empire. This Genoeral had ouly one alter-
native, and that was to deal with a firm hand. If he did not
give the orders he gave, there would not be many of the garrison
alive to-day to tell the truth.”

There are many other people, I could quote, who says that
General Dyer saved India. In my opinion, for what it is worth, there
was an incipient revolution which might have grown into immense
and mighty proportion and greater proportion even than the great
Indian Mutiny. Every evidence shows that that was so, I
think it is rather a commentary on the turn of the wheel
that it should be the .business of the right hon, Gentleman
the Seeretary of State for war, who is responsible for more errors
of judgment than any man sitting on the Treasury Bench, and
responsible for the loss of more lives than any man sitting in this
House, to get up and denounce this gallaut man who, in my oplinion,
saved Tpdia from grave trouble and saved the women from grave
outrage and saved India for the Empire. Some hon. Gentlemen,

o1
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who may have not given a deep study to all the docyments inelu-
ding the report of the Nationa] Council which was well worth
reading, do not, 1 think, realise what was happening there. Not
only was Amritear the ocentre ¢f this thing, but throvghout “the
whole of the Panjab there was a deep and concerted mdvement to
overthrow the British Raj.” Here is one case which is worth men-
tioning. In a oity of Punjab frightened women had taken refuge
in one of the rallying points, as they were called, waiting eagerly for
the arrival of the troops, and whilst there, notice were issued by
the natives stating that there were 80 women and children waiting
to be ravaged. In fact, no girls’ school was sacred. Then thefe was
the remarkable letter written by the Archbishop of Simla, who is not
a politician, and not a man who is seeking to make dialectical
poiuts in this House to break a gallant officer for the sake of saving
their own position. He is a Right. Reverend prelate of the Church who
has the respect and affection of thousaunds of the natives of India.
No man in this House who has only sense of responsibility can fail
to appreciate what he wrote. [ ask hon. Gentlemen who as a rule
associate themselves with the Government to pause before they go
into the lobby to support the right hon. Gentleman to-night, This
is & matter which cannot easily be settled by mere argument in this
House. It goes much deeper—it goes down to the very bed-rock
of our great Empire. 1 appreciate what the right hon. Geuntleman
said, and with much of his speech | agree, but the whole tone and
temper of that speech iuflamed the Committee more than I have
seeu it flamed in 35 years’ experience. We are sincers in this
matter, and [ grant that he is. We feel that General Dyer has
boen sentenced without trial. Cannot the Government see some
way by which justice can be meted out to this honourable and
gallant officer by which we can yet have an inquiry where he can
put his case and defend it, as he has never yet had a real opportu-
nity of doing! If that suggestion, which I throw out, could be
nccepted by the Government, many of us who feel very deeply on
this matter would have our fselings somewhat alleviated, I ask
hon. Members to forget the past and to remember the British
Empire, and to realise thronghout the vast spaces of the woril. We
ask our gallant soldiers to uphold the British flag, and if a man
goes a little Leyond what we consider to be just aud fair, do ot
break him on the wheel without trial, but give him a fair chance
of heing heard. Reprimand him if you will, and say to him he
exceeded the legitimate needs of the case, and that in the circum-
stances in which he was placed he may have overdone the severity,
but let us realise that we shall not hold our Empire together if,
whenever we get clamoar from revolution arise, a gallant soldier
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EEO gas done his duty ie to be broken at the dictate of the Treasury
nch.

Lieutenant Commander H. Young unreservedly supported
the action® of the Government o# India and the Secretary of
State. They were dealing simply with a question of the exercise
of professional disoretion by a soldier. He would fain take every
point in favour of General Dyer up to the critical moment of the
opening of fire at Amritsar and assume that be was right in
opening fire. But as to the continuance of the firing, it was common
grouug that the shooting was more than necessary to disperse the
meeting. It was carried on for another purpose—for the sake
of intimidation. That was an extension of the simple, definite,
well established rule of the use of minimum of force for the imme-
diate ciroumstances which ought not to be countenanced either in the
interesta of officers in charge, for it extended their area of judgment
from the situation immediately before them to the situation in its
wideat poesible aspect, or in the interest of the civilian population,
for whom the rule was the charter for the protection of their lives,
liberties, and safety from unduly violent action.

Colonel Wedgwood : 1 know I am regarded as an auti-patriot
in this House of Commons—as one opposed to the interests of
his own ocountry, of courge. Old Members of this House know that
that is not so. If ever there was a time in which it behoved those
who love England to spesk out, it is to-day. Hon. Members have
discussed this question of General Dyer as if it concerned only him :
but General Dyer was only an incident. What we are discussing
or ought to be discussing, is whother India is to have a chance to
remain_part of the British Empire. That is the question that I
do beg hon. Members to take into accouut. Do you desire to sce
the British Empire preserved ! 1f we o, we must remember that
it can only be preserved by the co-operation of the Iundians and
not by any other means. Some are carried away by the idea that
the safety of English men and women comes first. 1t does mnot
come first. Every man who went out to France to fight in the
War knew perfectly well that hie safety and the safety of his
relatives and friends was of no importance whatever. They knew
that the honour of their country come first. And there is a profound
antagonism between honour and ssfety. General Dyer no doubt
acted as if the safety of English men and women should come first.
1 think that was the wrong thing to do. It is more important
to save the national honour than to save any particular item in
the nation. -1 would rather say, for the intereats of our country, that
Englishmen and women had been shot down at Jallianwala by
Indians than that Indians had been shot down by Englishmen,
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The principal charge 1 muake against Dyer is uot that he ehot
down . Indians, but that he plsced -on Fuglish bistory the
gravest blot since in days goune-by we burned Joan of Are at
the stake.

I am not speaking from an Ludian point of view, but solely from
an English point of view. Where a question of National honour
is concerned we must look at it with Euglish eyes and 1 beg hon.
Members to realise that by doing this action General Dyer has
injured our honour and that is his crime. The safety of li_fe is
of no importauce, the safety of women and ohildren, even, is of
no importance compared with the honour of Eugland, and &very
member kaows that that is so. The complaint is not that Geoeral
Dyer committed this crime. It is not just a question of punish-
ing’ General Dyer. I agree with Mr. Gandhi, the great Indian,
representing, [ think, all that is finest in India, when be said :
“We do not want to punish Goneral Dyer ; we have no desire for
revenge ; we want to change the system that produces General
Dyers.” That is what we must do. It seems to me that it is
hopeless now, alter this Debate. 1 could hope in the old days
that the Indians would listen to what I said and would take it
48 coming from a friend. Now they will have faith no longer—
bocause I am an Tuglishman. Buat this 1 would urge upou the
Indisns—to remembor that revenge is the aim of fools. What
really matters is to chauge the system that produces crime. That
is why I welcomed tho tone and speech of the right hon. Gentlemen
opposite. After all, we do not care whether General Dyer is punished
or not. What we waut to do, what we want to put before the minds of
tho ludians is that, with the help of Indian co-operation and their
control of their own destivies, they will be in charge, in fiture,
of law and order in lndio aud will be able to prevent these things
happeuing. That iz the ouly hope in the present situation. *1do
ot heheve that hon. Mewbers uuderstand aud what the feeling
s in ludia st the ypresent. day. When we were passing the Bill
wr ludia, 1 bad the brightest hopes tor the future of lndia as a
self goveruing  dominion withiu the British Ewpire, but siuce
that time the siiwation day by day bas goue worse. The worst
thing of all is that 80 percent uf the Anglo-Indian opinion backed
General Dyer, and were agaiust the Secretary of State, That is
what perpetually, and day by day is waking the Indians enraged,
antagoyistic, anti-Euglish and Siun Fein., U they decide that they
will take no part in the new constitution, that they will boycott
it, then it isall up with the British IEmpire in ludin. I will read
this telegraph which 1 have ruccived among other messages. It
is from a mass mesting 1u Bombay,—
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““Huuter Report and Despatches rudely shaken deepest faith-
in British, justice, unless Parliament vindieates character British
rule by eoridemnation and repudiatibn Punjab official miscreants.”

I know that is strong language—

“Britains moral prestige, of greter consaquence than military
strength, will be irrefrievably lost and peoples’ hearts alienated
from British rule.” X

That message was sent by Jamnadas Dwarkadas who is a
“moderate.” That is the feeling of the moderates there about tha
course adopted by the extremists in England. It is an illustration
of what I have said, that hon, Members do not understand whatis
the feeling in India. They do not understaud how near we are
to Sinp Fein in India, and that it will bocome more and more
difficult to secure a settlement. The hon. Member for Twickenham
(Sir W. Joyneon Hicks) put the finishing touch upon the whole
affair. He spoke with a certairr authority, for though the voice
was the voice of the hon. Member, the words were the words
of Sir Miochael O'Dwyer. He spoke as though the future
relatipuship of the Indian aud the English was worth nothing,
as though what was, important alone was our caste rule in
India. Rule by force, by a class, must now come to an end all over
the world. No one need fear military uprising in India. A military
upriging is absolutely impossible in these days of aeroplanes, armour-
ed cars, roads and railways, sud wireless telegraphy. Such an
uprising would be absolutely impracticable.  What we are face to
face with there is not-a military uprising, but simply passive resis-
tance. Ounce you get people refusing to take part in Government,
yout may carry on for a few years, but in the end you will find your-
selves where the lrish Government is to-day—and without an
Ulster !

¥ou have got this situation before you in India. What are
you going to do? ls the ouly message that the English Parliawent
has to send to India this, that the only day on which we discussed
lndisy affairs was taken up with discussing the right and wrong
of a British General 1 That is no message for ludia. It may be
good enough for thoughtless people who want simply to create a
little seusation for the moment. The speechos that bave heen made
will attract attention. Every word that is said here to-day will
be read in Indis. Wa canuot help it even if we would. To my
mind overy speach ought fo be delivered to appeal to Indians, to
show them that the people in Eugland condemn this offair at
Awritear, coudemn the horrors of the Military law. I speak here
‘to-day for thousands of Liberals as well as Labour Members,
in saying that we are agaiust the Jallianwala Bagh maurder,
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agsinst the way in which the martial law was carried on in the
Punjab, against Sir M. O’Dwyer, and againet the whole adminis-
tration of the Punjab. We send q[mb as a word to help those men,
like Mr. Lsgan, who is now, trying to bring the Punjab back to
sanity, and Sir George Lloyd, whd managed to carry Bombay through
these stirring times without any martial law. Cannot we send to
them a message of help, try to assist them in the work they are
doing, instead of perpetually making their work of reconciliation
mote impossible by the insane speeches made from these benches.
Will not hon. Members understand that unless we now take

broad view of the future of the British Empire, unless we now Surn
down for -ever the idea that the British Empire is a replica of the
Roman Empire, it will be an evil day for us? Hon. Members will
remember how Macaulay’s “‘Lays” end—

Shall ba great fear

On all who hear

The mighty name of Rome.

That was most attractive when we were younger. It may have
been 80 in the British Empire in the old days. It will pot work
now. Where we are now we must decide to throw over the
Roman Empire idea of fear and force! Hear we are at the end
of a great Victorious War. We are for the strongest Power in the
world. The old great Powers have come to an end. We dominate
the old world as the United States dominates the new. There are
no other great Powers. How are we to deal with the future? The
other natione are looking to ve, the small nations the Magyars, the
Austrians, the Poles, the Czecho-Rlovaks—-all look towards England
as being the greatest Power in the world ; the people that can help
them, of whom they are afraid. How are you going to use this
great Power influence? 1f you are going to utilise that power
in the way svggested by some, you may go on for some years, but
in the end you smash.

Sir C. Oman :  How are you going to carry ou— with Provincial
Councils ?

Colonel Wedgwood : 1 would like to refer the hon. Member
in this matter to a greater bistorian even than the hon, Gentleman
—to Mr. H. G. Wells and his ‘'Outline of History.”

Sir C. Oman: 1 that is where the hou. and gallant Gertle-
man gets bis history, then I do not wonder at his views about India,

Colonel Wedgwood : l’arhapa the hon. Member would prefer
in this connection: Gibbon's * Declive and fall.” But the real point
is this: Are we to try to carry on the great position we have to-day
by the terrorism of subject races? (Hon. Members: “No!”) The
only alternative that 1 can see is to invite them to come into the
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British Empire on equal terms so that Indians should be British
citizens, and have the same rights as Englishmen or Australians.
If youn give those rights, you offer a certain attraotiou to psople to
belong to the British Empire. Jf you persist in treating Indians,
not only in [ndia, but be it observed, in our oolonies, East Africs,
South Africa, and elsewhere, as though they were an inferior people,
not equal to you and me, so long as there is this social feeling
against them, so long as they are legally inferior, you are ruining
the British Empire and the future cause of country. I want to see
England embracing all these people, not only Indians, but as they
comg’along in the scale of civilisation, the black men of Africa,
as well as the Jews of Palestine and the Egyptiane of Egypt. I want
to see them all as proud of being British citizens as the men in the
Roman days were proud of being Roman citizens, There is nothing
finer in the records of lLord Palmerston than the way he stood up
for that Gibraltar Jew, Don Pacifico. Lord Palmerston made it a
Casus belli because that man had lost some of his property. li that
is the way you are going to make people proud of being British
citizens, well and good. But so long ss you go on treating Indians as
though they were a subject race, as if those who had the wit, intelli-
gence, and evergy to educate themselves were all wicked agitators
and people to be condemned, as they were condemned by Sir Michael
O'Dwyer in his speech, so long as the only decent Indian is
the Indian who is tamed and who is content to be your servant, so
long as that is the feeling of Knglishmen, you are injuring the
prospects and the true development of the British Empire.

If we get a division to-night in which a large number of
Members go into the Lobby against the Secretary of State, that will
be au indication to India that, bad as is the Sccretary of State
whom they condemy, there are people worse than the Secratary of
State, worse than General Dyer, the people who support Prussian
Terrorism as the essence of British rule. [f that is going to be the
message to India it can have nothing but a disastrous result. The
Sweoretary of State will prove to the full that what he has done is
all that England would let him. He has not done enough. I believe
that in the bleseing he has given in his despatch to Sir Miohael
O'Dwyer and Lord Chelmsford, he has done more to undermine his
reforms than anything he has ever done before. We, on these
benches are not prepared to say that he is correot in bleesing Sir
M. O'Dwyer and Lord Chelmsford. Wa know that the right hon.
Gentleman has undone some of his best work. We wish that he
bad put such words on paper.

My last mossage to the right hon. Gentleman is this, that
unless something is done, and done quickly, to put into the hand of
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Indians not only the legislative power but the administrative power
to deal with these questions of law and order, questions which have
been so mishandled by the military, unless you give the peoplo
power to repeal the Seditions Meetings Act and restore to them
that Magna Carta and Ireedom which we enjoy in this country,
unless this is done, all the right hon. Gentleman’s great reforms,
from which we all hoped so much, fall into fire of racial hate which
will destroy not ouly India’s chances of freedom but the whole future
of the British race.

Mr. Rupert Gwynne: The hon. Gentleman who has just
sat down has suggested that this is really u controversy between
Indians and Europoans, but I venture to say that it is nothing
of the kind. There are in India a great majorily of citizens
who are loyal and patriotie, but there are also a minority who are
disloyal and unpatriotic, which is the same as in this country. It
is, 1 think, unfortunate to suggest that becsuse some of us feel that
General Dyer has not received justice that we should be stamped
as taking the part of the Anglo-Indians against the Indians. There
are a great many Anglo-Indians and Indians who are fully alive to
the fact that although General Dyer had to perform a very unplea-
sant duty, he really did save an appaling situation, and I think
everyone whether Indian or Kuropean, must on reflection, feel that
General Dyer has not had, even after this discussion to-day, justice
in any sense of the word as we kuow it here.

The right hon. Geutleman, the Member for Paisley (Mr.
Asquith) says that General Dyer had full justice, but how can he
say that when he knowe that he has never been definitely accused,
and that ho has bevn judged and condemned on evidence wbich he
gave before a commission which was not enquiring into his
case in particular, coupled with statement which he was allowed
to send to the Army Cuouncil? May [ say here that I think itis
extremely unfortunate that that commuunieation, which most of us
foel carries groat weight, was mnoil issued to the House until this
morning and (he vast majority of hon. Members have not had an
oppertunity of informing themsclves properly in regard tc General
Dyer’s case. The Secretary of State for India, in his despatch,
stated that General Dyer's evidence was afterwarde available for
pablio as an anthorised version, hut it was admitted that it was not
an suthorised version as the evidence had not been submitted to him.

The right hon. Gentleman said it was unfortunate that General
Dyer had to return to the front and therefore inaccessible. Let me
inform the Secretary of State for India that (General Dyer, after
baving given his evidence before the commiesion, returned to his
duties some 200 or 300 miles awsay, while other members who were



